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Section 110 of the NHPA requires Federal Agencies to establish a program to identify, evaluate, and nominate significant historical properties to the NRHP.  This section documents these efforts on Pope AFB, and lists all cultural resources known on the base. This chapter is divided into subsections that describe cultural background of the base (Section 3.1), Pope AFB’s efforts to identify cultural resources (Section 3.2), an inventory of historic properties on the base (Section 3.3), and an areas of concern section that describes any instances where Pope AFB has not yet fully completed its Section 110 obligations (Section 3.4).   The status of cultural resources maps is also addressed (Section 3.5).

3.1  THE PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT

Pope AFB encompasses approximately 2,194 acres located southwest of the Lower Little River and 10 miles northwest of Fayetteville, North Carolina.  Pope AFB is located in the Sandhills area, in the vicinity of the fall line between the Piedmont and Coastal Plain (Figure 3).  The Sandhills extend as a transitional zone between the Piedmont and the inner Coastal Plain from Alabama in the south to Virginia in the north.  The Sandhills are underlain by the water-rounded pebbles of the Tuscaloosa formation (also called the Cape Fear formation, Clement et al. 1997).  Sandhills topography consists of rolling sandy upland divides sloping down to adjacent rivers and streams.  Relief as great as 15-20 meters (m) can be found between ridges and adjacent saddles in the more finely dissected areas of the Sandhills.  Eolian Dune topography with relief of 6 -10 m can also be found (Roberts 1994).

The vegetation community in the area of Pope AFB likely became established 2,000 years ago and consists of longleaf pine, turkey oak, and wiregrass.  These species are drought and fire resistant.  Floodplains and bottomlands are host to more diverse plant life, including: cane greenbriar, blueberry, holly, huckleberry, raspberry, wax myrtle, black gum, dogwood, Atlantic white-cedar, and sassafras.  Mammal species include:  fox, otter, raccoon, rabbit, squirrel, turkey, white-tailed deer, and opossum (Roberts 1994).  

The region’s climate is humid and subtropical.  Average temperatures in July are 78 to 80ºF, and 42-44ºF in January.  The region is typically frost-free for 210-220 days a year from late March through early November.  The area receives between 44 and 48 inches of precipitation a year.  Summer is the wettest season, and fall the driest (Clement et al. 1997).

Figure 3.1.  Study Area Drainages 

The lands under the jurisdiction of Pope AFB include the main base (1,803 acres), the Laketree Site and Railroad strip (112 acres), the New Munitions Storage Area (173 acres), the Localizer site (less than 1 acre), Middle Marker site (2 acres), Outer Marker site (2 acres), MARS Station (less than 1 acre), and Old Munitions Storage Area (10 acres).  

3.2  CULTURAL BACKGROUND

3.2.1 Prehistoric Framework   At the present time, ten prehistoric sites have been identified on the base, but none are eligible for the National Register of Historic Places.  Nevertheless, the potential for the future identification of prehistoric sites always exists.  The following is an outline of the prehistory of the area.  It includes the kinds of sites and artifacts that might be encountered from each period, and the context for interpreting them.

3.2.1.1 Regional Prehistory The discussion that follows is highly abbreviated and does not represent a comprehensive overview of eastern North American prehistory or history.  It does, however, present a generally accepted scenario of the prehistory of the study area. 

3.2.1.1.1  Prehistoric Overview  The following discussion draws extensively from the work of others, citing some within the text, the rest in the bibliography (Attachment 6.1).  Archeologists have divided the prehistory of North Carolina's coastal plain region into three periods (Paleoindian, Archaic, and Woodland), based for the most part on inferred economic adaptations and, in the case of the Woodland, ceramic traditions.  A fourth possible stage of development, the Pre-Clovis, allegedly predates the Paleoindian and is a highly contested unit of cultural division within North and South America.  The chronology for the coastal plain presented in Table 3.1 is partly derived from Phelps (1983:17) and partly from other sources, such as Coe (1964) and Goodyear et al. (1979).  

The Paleoindian Period represents the first generally accepted, widespread human occupation in the New World.  Paleoindian adaptations are characterized by focal hunting economies, low population densities and large territorial ranges.  The following Archaic Stage evidenced a gradual shift toward hunter-gatherer adaptations involving secondary resource (i.e., nuts, seeds, fish, shellfish, etc.) exploitation.  Territorial ranges appear to have contracted and population levels seem to have increased.  Willey and Phillips (1958) identify the Woodland as representative of their Formative Stage of culture.  Horticulture and other intensive forms of subsistence technologies were developed during this stage and provided the basis for semisedentary and sedentary village life.  Population levels were greater than those of the Archaic and territorial ranges continued to contract.  Lack of an adequate archeological sample of protohistoric and historic aboriginal sites has always inhibited the incorporation of these cultures into the evolutionary scheme of the prehistoric cultures.  A major issue of concern is whether protohistoric cultures were following along a trajectory of complexity established by prehistoric groups or had 

Table 3.1.  Cultural Sequence of the North Carolina Coastal Plain
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"degenerated" prior to European contact.  More detailed discussion of the cultural stages in relation to the archeology of the study area is presented below.

“Pre-Clovis" Occupation in the Eastern United States  The existence of a pre-Clovis occupation in North America south of Alaska is an extremely controversial and hotly contested topic (Adovasio et al. 1978; Haynes 1980, 1988; Adovasio et al. 1990).  Pre-Clovis sites, if real entities, would extend from around 11,500 B.P. to an unknown date in the more distant past.  Despite the undisputed position of the fluted, lanceolate Clovis projectile point as the oldest documented tool form south of Alaska, older cultural materials have been reported from several archeological sites (Krieger 1964; Wormington 1962; Adovasio et al. 1978).  Few sites interpreted as containing such occupations, have withstood close examination by scholars of various disciplines.  One of the best known sites reputed to contain a pre-Clovis occupation is that of the Meadowcroft Rockshelter in Pennsylvania (Adovasio et al. 1978); but, even this site is subject to question (Haynes 1980, 1988).  Haynes points out the need for objectivity when evaluating potential pre-Clovis sites:

“Only when scholars can point to replicated findings at two or more sites with similar cultural traits and similar pre-Clovis radiocarbon dates, all in a pre-Clovis stratigraphic context that is not isolated will we be able to say for certain that there were pre-Clovis inhabitants in the New World.“  (Haynes 1988:12)

Haynes has addressed this problem by investigating sites in Alaska that predate the 11,500 B.P. date.  He has looked at the 500 years prior to the first positive identification of Clovis in geological context.  In Alaska the Nenana Complex produced unfluted projectile points and scrapers, similar to those representing Clovis groups in regions further south, which dated from 11,000 to 12,000 years B.P.  In addition, an upper Paleolithic site of Mal'ta in Siberia revealed a human burial with red ocher, bone points and lithic bifaces which dated to 14,750 years B.P.  The materials recovered at Mal'ta bear remarkable similarity to the Anzick Site in Montana where bone points, lithic bifaces, Clovis points and other tools were found in association with a child burial covered with red ocher.  However, Haynes found little undisputed evidence for occupations in Alaska that would have resulted in colonization of areas south of Alaska before the Clovis Period.  This notion has recently gained support from work in the Brooks Range of Alaska at the Mesa Site (Kunz and Reanier 1993).  Investigations at the Mesa Site suggest that Paleoindian groups arrived on the North American mainland with their Clovis cultural traditions intact between 9,730 ± 80 to 11,660 ± 80 B.P.  The fact that no Paleoindian sites have been located in Siberia still remains somewhat of a mystery that is confounded by the probability that many of the important sites lie buried beneath the Bering Sea.  The suggestion of an intact Clovis "first migration" has recently been discussed by Whitley and Dorn (1993) in light of recent discoveries in South America of the Monte Verde Site in Chile (Dillehay 1989) and Pedra Furada Site (Guidon and Delibrias 1986) in Brazil.  Whitley and Dorn conclude, "that there is still plausible support for a Beringian first entry, albeit only for one that occurred in pre-Clovis but not Clovis-Nenana times" (1993:641).  This topic is likely to remain a subject for debate for years to come.  No sites or data on file within the area surrounding Pope AFB appear to relate to the pre-Clovis question. 

 The Paleoindian Period  The Paleoindian Period is commonly dated between 12,000 and 10,000 years before present (B.P.) throughout North America (Haynes et al. 1984).  Paleoindian sites are identified by the presence of a fluted lanceolate-shaped projectile point known as the Clovis point.  Gardner and Verrey (1979) suggest that the Paleoindian in the Southeast can be divided into three phases.  The earliest phase is represented by the Clovis point; middle phase sites contain small, Bull Brook-like, fluted points; and the late phase is characterized by Dalton and Hardaway points.  Oliver's (1981, 1985) proposed revision of the North Carolina Piedmont sequence extends the temporal range of the Paleoindian Period back to 14,000 B.P.   Hardaway Side Notched and Palmer Corner Notched points are considered to date to a terminal phase, although they are more commonly recognized as Early Archaic (Goodyear et al. 1979).  This is the perspective adopted in this overview.  However, it should be noted that viable arguments can be raised to support either position.  A beginning date of 14,000 B.P. appears to be too early, as the earliest accepted radiocarbon dates for fluted points extend only to about 11,500 B.P. (Haynes et al. 1984). 

Although Paleoindian assemblages associated with late Pleistocene megafauna (i.e., mammoth, mastodon, ground sloth and Pleistocene bison) have been documented in western North America, the same is not true for the eastern woodlands (Goodyear et al. 1979:91).  Only modern species such as caribou have been recovered at Holcombe Beach, Michigan (Cleland 1965) and Dutchess Cave Quarry, New York (Funk 1977).  Moreover, at Meadowcroft Rockshelter, Pennsylvania, which may contain Pre-Clovis occupations, only white-tailed deer and wapiti have been positively identified (Adovasio et al. 1978).  Many researchers in the Southeast, noting the proclivity for Paleoindian sites to be located in prime megafauna habitats (i.e., major river systems), still argue that Paleoindians in the east may have significantly exploited now extinct big game (Gardner 1974; Goodyear et al. 1979; Michie 1977; Williams and Stoltman 1965).  Certainly, there are documented cases in eastern North America of the association of extinct megafauna and humans (Cockrell and Murphy 1978; MacDonald 1983).  Regardless of the exact affiliation of the animals exploited, the characterization of Paleoindian subsistence economy as one focused on big game hunting still remains viable (Cleland 1966; Willey 1966).  Plant remains from Meadowcroft Rockshelter, Shawnee-Minisink (McNett et al. 1977), and Dutchess Cave Quarry, however, indicate that secondary resources such as fish, bird, hawthorn, and nuts were also incorporated into various Paleoindian subsistence systems. 

Due to the paucity of information available in North Carolina, Paleoindian settlement models have not advanced to the point of generating predictive statements.  There is a general suspicion that base camps will be located along major streams and that special activity loci and possibly short term camps should be situated in the uplands (Mathis 1979; Phelps 1983).  Following Williams and Stoltman (1965), Gardner (1974) has proposed what is perhaps the most explicit Paleoindian subsistence model in the Southeast.  Based on his research in and around the Flint Run Complex in Virginia, he argues that the highly mobile pattern of the Paleoindian subsistence-settlement system created a dependence on highly siliceous lithic resources to maintain technological "readiness." Consequently, base camps were tied to rare, high-quality lithic quarries.  

In situations where regional productivity was high, Paleoindian groups could exploit a smaller area in a foraging radius pattern, while in areas of low productivity (relative to megafauna), like the inter-riverine Piedmont, settlement was restricted to river valleys and movement would have been linear, involving extremely long distances.  Gardner and Verrey (1979) suggest that the Paleoindian settlement system centered on Morrow Mountain in the North Carolina Piedmont and may have extended as much as 130 miles up and down the Pee Dee River.  The "central quarry" model is, in part, based on raw material distributions which Gardner uses to link sites into systems.  Phelps (1983:21) has criticized this approach, arguing that such distributions can result from trade networks as well as mobility patterns. 
Perkinson's (1971, 1973) fluted point distribution study suggests that Paleoindian site densities may have been higher in the Piedmont than in the Coastal Plain.  In fact, his numbers indicate that Paleoindian occupation in the Coastal Plain was very limited, as only 15 percent (13 of 83) of the points came from Coastal Plain counties.  Interestingly, Michie's (1977) fluted point distribution study of South Carolina shows an overwhelming association with fall-line and Coastal Plain counties.  Whether these differences are the result of data collection biases or reflect actual differences, cannot be determined at present.  The absence of fluted points in the extensive surveys of the South Carolina Piedmont carried out by the Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology, barring the effects of extensive upland erosion, indicates that Michie's distributions are possibly representative (Goodyear et al. 1979:95).  Nine Paleoindian sites are known on Fort Bragg, including 4 identified on the Overhills tract near Pope AFB, 31HT239, 31HT401, 31HT161, and 31HT310 (Benson 1997).  These finds demonstrate the potential for a significant Paleoindian occupation in the study area and suggests that further archeological investigations of the Coastal Plain may yet produce a fluted point distribution pattern similar to that described by Michie for South Carolina.

The Archaic Period:  A deeply stratified site containing an Archaic sequence of occupations such as that described for the Piedmont by Coe (1964) has not yet been excavated in the North Carolina Coastal Plain.  However, the projectile point styles recovered during surveys are identical to those of the Piedmont where Coe's (1964) chronology has withstood continual scrutiny (Claggett and Cable 1982; Ward 1983; Oliver 1985).  By extension, this chronology is relevant to the Coastal Plain (Phelps 1983:22).  The Archaic Period has been traditionally divided into three phases:  Early (10,000-8,000 B.P.), Middle (8,000-5,000 B.P.) and Late (5,000-3,000 B.P.). 

 In general, the Archaic Period is viewed as a lengthy period of adjustment to changing environments brought about by the climatic warming at the end of the last glacial period and the accompanying rise in sea levels.  Caldwell's (1958) model of wide-niche hunter-gatherer adaptations continues to succinctly define the period for most archeologists.  However, the differences between the cultures at either end of the sequence are immense, and indicate that major cultural and adaptational changes occurred during the Archaic. 

Early Archaic assemblages exhibit a number of similarities with those from the Paleoindian Period.  Projectile points remain stylistically formalized and show evidence of curation strategies, hafted end scrapers continue to be well represented, and there is an emphasis on the use of cryptocrystalline raw material such as chert and high grade metavolcanics.  Cleland (1976) has suggested that these attributes suggest a continued focus on the hunting and processing of big game animals.  In support of this, Goodyear et al. (1979:104) note that plant processing tools, such as grinding stones, are extremely rare in Early Archaic deposits.  Chapman (1977:95, 116) reports the presence of eight grinding slabs in Kirk Corner Notched deposits at Ice House Bottom in Tennessee, but was unable to demonstrate the reliance on or even presence of "weed seeds" in the flotation samples from these levels.  However, acorn and hickory nut shells were abundant.  Faunal remains from Early Archaic associations in the Southeast indicate a widespread emphasis on white-tailed deer, but a variety of smaller game, including gray squirrel, raccoon, turkey and box turtle, have also been identified (Goodyear et al. 1979:105).  Subsistence data suggest that hunting was a major element of Early Archaic economies, as was true for the Paleoindian Stage.  However, there was also significant energy devoted to nut gathering, possible trapping of smaller terrestrial animals, and aquatic resources.  The widespread occurrence of Early Archaic sites throughout the Southeast, in both riverine and non-riverine settings (Goodyear et al. 1979:105; Ward 1983), further suggests increasing population densities and perhaps a greater emphasis on foraging strategies. At least Fifty Eight Early Archaic sites have been recorded near Pope AFB (on Fort Bragg), supporting the general observation of increasing population levels (Benson 1997).  Some of these are located on benches and terraces adjacent to the margins of swamps and small first and second order streams.  Others are located in the uplands overlooking drainages, and illustrate the widespread occurrence of these sites. 

Middle Archaic lithic technologies exhibit major changes in relation to the Early Archaic assemblages discussed above:  end scrapers are discontinued (Cable 1982; Kimball and Chapman 1977); raw material frequencies tend to reflect local availability (Goodyear et al. 1979:111); cryptocrystalline materials are de-emphasized as distance to raw material sources increases; and mortars begin to appear (Coe 1964).  Storage pits are associated with Middle Archaic levels at Russell Cave (Griffin 1974) and prepared burials begin to occur frequently (Chapman 1977:112-114).  Goodyear et al. (1979:111) argue that these lines of evidence point to increased sedentism and a reduction of mobility.  Alternatively, Cable (1982) has suggested that Middle Archaic groups adapted to the Holocene warming trend through increased residential mobility.  These two positions are not necessarily incompatible.  The drastic increase in Middle Archaic sites documented throughout the Southeast suggests that population levels were continuing to expand, which would almost certainly entail a contraction of local group territories.  This in turn would have created pressures to more intensively exploit foraging radii by moving more frequently.  It is unlikely that territories would have been small enough to exploit the entire home range from a single residence, until more intensive subsistence technologies such as horticulture developed.  Thus, increased residential mobility under such conditions may actually represent a common stage in the development of sedentism.  Others have noted a similar tendency toward increased residential mobility in the Middle Archaic, especially during the earlier phase (Anderson and Hanson 1986; Anderson and Schuldenrein 1985; Blanton and Sassaman 1989; Cantley et al. 1984; Sassaman 1988). 

At least Ninety-five sites with Middle Archaic components have been recorded around Pope AFB on Fort Bragg (Benson 1997).  Coe (1964:122-23) and Phelps (1983:23) have argued that the groups responsible for the manufacture of Morrow Mountain and Guilford points were intrusive into the area and, therefore, contemporaneous with other groups identified with Stanly and Halifax points.  This would suggest that population levels of the indigenous groups remained stable in the area around Pope AFB.  However, the high frequency and the widespread distribution of the Morrow Mountain projectile points throughout the Southeast, makes this position somewhat less probable. 

The Late Archaic is transitional to the horticulture-based economies found in the Woodland Period.  Large shell middens along the coast and interior rivers suggest extensive secondary resource exploitation and the establishment of semisedentary villages (Claflin 1931; Stoltman 1972).  Steatite vessels are widely distributed along the Atlantic Slope (Coe 1964:112-13; South 1959) and steatite net-sinkers have been found along the coast.  Fiber-tempered pottery was also initially produced during the Late Archaic and is now known to have a similar distribution to that of steatite vessels (Phelps 1983; South 1976).  Polished or pecked stone artifacts and mortars are common, as are subsurface storage pits.  The remnants of a prepared clay floor and scattered post holes at Rabbit Mount, South Carolina, provide further evidence of more stable habitations (Stoltman 1972). 

Seventy-one Late Archaic components have been recorded on Fort Bragg (Benson 1997).  Cable and Reed (1990) record an equal number of Middle and Late Archaic components, eight each, a short distance east of Pope AFB.  Twelve of those sites are associated with stream and swamp margins; while only four components occur in upland settings.  Fifty-six Middle and Late Archaic sites were found on the Overhills tract of Fort Bragg to the north of Pope AFB (Benson 1997).  In contrast to data from other regions in the Sandhills, there is an apparent decline in the number of sites from the Middle to Late Archaic on Fort Bragg.  An increase in thenumber of late Archaic sites is more usual.  In particular, there is a notable lack of Terminal Archaic, ceramic-bearing sites (Benson 1997).  This may provide some counter evidence to Phelp's (1983:25) contention that Archaic population levels in the North Carolina Coastal Plain stabilized during the Morrow Mountain phase.

The Woodland Period:  Cultural differences between groups occupying the North and South Coastal regions first become archeologically discernible near the end of the Late Archaic (Fig. 3.2; Phelps 1983:26).  This is marked by the advent of fiber-tempered pottery, which is concentrated south of the Neuse River.  During the Woodland Period, differences between the two regions continue to be expressed in ceramic typology (Table 3.2).  The presence of Thom's Creek and Deptford wares in the South Coastal Plain suggests ties to the classic Southeast ceramic tradition (South 1976) during the Early Woodland, while the North Coastal Plain ceramic assemblage is representative of the cord-marked and fabric-impressed tradition of the Middle Atlantic (Phelps 1983:28-29).  However, by the end of the Early Woodland, the ceramic assemblage in the South Coastal Plain is also dominated by cord-marked and fabric-impressed types.  Phelps (1983:27-28) explains the presence, especially of Deptford types, as a consequence of the ripple-effect.  

Fig. 3.2  Cultural Divisions of the North Carolina Coastal Plain

Another trait that appears to distinguish the two regions in the Middle to Late Woodland is the sand burial mound.  These features (Fig. 3.3) also seem to be limited to the South 

Table 3.2  Ceramic Taxonomy for the South Carolina Coast
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Fig. 3.3  Distribution of Burial Mounds in the North Carolina Coastal Plain

Coastal Plain region south of the Neuse River.  The following discussion will focus on the sequence in the South Coastal Region, since it encompasses the study area. In the South Coastal Plain, the Early, Middle and Late Woodland periods are identified with the New River, Cape Fear, and Oak Island Phases, respectively.  Unfortunately, the limited amount of archeological investigation in this region results in only a very sketchy picture of developments during the Woodland Period.  The New River Phase is derived from Loftfield's (1979b) Onslow County locality but very little is actually known about the phase.  The ceramic assemblage consists of a cord-marked, fabric-impressed tradition with a veneer of Southeast tradition types.  Phelps (1983:31) likens the New River ceramic series to that of the Deep Creek Phase in the Northern Coastal Plain.  Here, a coarse sand-tempered, cord-marked type dominates, while minor quantities of net-impressed, fabric-impressed, and simple stamped types are also present.  The "small" Savannah River or Gypsy Point (Oliver 1985) and the large triangular Roanoke Point (Coe 1964) also appear to be associated with the Early Woodland of the Coastal Plain.  Phelps (1983:35) places both Cape Fear ware (sand-tempered) and Hanover ware (sherd-tempered) in the Cape Fear Phase.  South's (1976) shell-tempered ware characterizes the Oak Island Phase.   Surface treatments, in order of popularity, include cord-marking, net-impressing, plain, and fabric-impressing.  Phelps (1983:48) suggests that the increase in fabric-impressing and the presence of simple stamping may align the Oak Island Phase with the Colington Phase.  

The most distinctive feature of South Coastal Region Woodland cultures, and the only one that provides any effective means of definition at the present time, is the sand burial mound.  Characteristically, these mounds are low-lying, ranging between 2 and 4 feet in height.  They are circular to oval in shape and vary between 20 and 60 feet in diameter.  A geologist with the Department of the Interior, J. A. Holmes, was the first to investigate and report on excavations into several of these mounds in 1883 (MacCord 1966).  His major area of concentration was in Duplin County to the east of the study area.  Charles Peabody (1910) also excavated one of these features in Cumberland County in the early twentieth century.  A number of other mounds including the McFayden Mound in Brunswick County (South 1966), the McLean Mound in Cumberland County (MacCord 1966), and the Red Springs (Keel 1970) and Buie (Wetmore 1978) mounds in Robeson County have been the subject of more recent investigations.  Three types of burials  commonly occur in a single mound:  cremations; bundle burials of varying degrees of completeness; and flexed inhumations.  Mound size tends to correlate with burial population.  Stewart (1966:69) estimates that the McLean Mound, which was about 60 feet in diameter, contained about 500 individuals.  In Duplin County, Holmes reported only 8 skeletons from the excavation of one-half of a mound measuring 22 feet in diameter.  According to Stewart (1966), despite being mounded, these cemeteries appear to exhibit burial patterns not unlike those of Iroquois and Algonkian ossuaries in the Middle Atlantic states.  The burial populations from the sand mounds and the ossuaries reveal an under-representation of children, especially of infants.  Moreover, both contain smaller numbers of adult males than females.  Cremation is also a shared trait, although no ossuary has yet produced as many as the 32 identified at the McLean Mound.  Stewart’s cranial measurements also suggest that the McLean Mound population is more closely aligned with the Middle Atlantic physical type than that of more southerly groups.  

Similar burial mound features have been reported in extreme south coastal South Carolina and north coastal Georgia (Caldwell 1952; Moore 1898), but none have yet been reported from the rest of the South Carolina coast (Phelps 1983:35).  As this region of South Carolina has seen very little archeological research, it is probable that sand burial mounds will be discovered in the future.  The temporal distribution of the mounds is also in need of further delineation.  On the basis of a very broad correlation of the burial mound trait in the eastern woodlands, Phelps (1983:35) has associated them with the Middle Woodland Period.  The single radiocarbon date of A.D. 970 ± 110 from the McLean Mound (MacCord 1966:17) suggests a very late Middle Woodland time range for this particular mound.  However, Wetmore's (1978) ceramic seriation of the Buie Mound clearly suggests a Late Woodland date for this Robeson County burial mound.  Furthermore, the burial mound at Irene, Georgia, which is very similar, if not identical, to those in North Carolina, is dated to the Savannah and Irene Phases (Caldwell and McCann 1941:22-24).  Again, this represents a time span that correlates with the Late Woodland Period of North Carolina.   

Over 50 percent (143 of 280 components) of the recorded sites on the Overhills tract of Fort Bragg contain Woodland ceramics (Benson 1997).  Measured in these terms, it could be argued that population increase occurred sometime during the Woodland Stage, as only 27 percent (n=76) of the sites on this tract exhibited evidence of Paleoindian or Archaic components.  Certainly the presence of burial mounds indicates increasing sedentism and it can be argued that the moist sandy soils of the Coastal Plain may have provided an advantage for prehistoric horticultural technology. 

Protohistoric and Historic Peoples:  The North Carolina Coastal Plain has been characterized as a zone of culture contact during the later phases of prehistoric occupation (Phelps 1983).  This notion is heavily influenced by the known distribution of historic tribes in the area, but archeological differences are also discernible in the ceramic phases of the prehistoric occupation.  Ethnohistorians recognize three distinct linguistic groups in the region based on early historic accounts (Fig. 3.4).  The Iroquoian-speaking Tuscarora inhabited the Inner Coastal Plain north of the Neuse River (Boyce 1978), while the Carolina Algonkian tribes occupied the Tidewater region to the east (Feest 1978).  Both of these groups were linguistically affiliated with other Iroquoian and Algonkian groups to the north in Virginia, Maryland, Pennsylvania and New York.  The region south of the Neuse River was inhabited by the Waccamaw and Cape Fear Indians whose linguistic affiliations are obscure, but are generally assigned to the Siouan-speaking group that extended over a large part of the South Carolina Coastal Plain (Hudson 1976; South 1976; Swanton 1946).  These northern and southern cultural contrasts extend backward into prehistory, although the distinctions become less clear when only material culture 

Fig. 3.4.  Distribution of Historic Aboriginal Linguistic Groups in the Coastal Plain

traits are available for comparison.  Willey (1966), for instance, draws the boundary between the Middle Atlantic and Southeast cultural subareas along the Pee Dee River in South Carolina, while Trigger (1978) suggests a division along the Neuse River.  Phelps (1983:15) follows Willey's boundaries, but divides the North Carolina Coastal Plain into North and South Coastal regions based on linguistic and archeological differences.  Pope AFB is located on the extreme northern perimeter of the South Coastal Region and is adjacent not only to the Northern Coastal Region but also the Piedmont.  This would indicate that the habitation to be found here will be culturally and ethnically diverse and may exhibit significant shifts in orientation from one period to the next.  Indeed, South (1976:46) has referred to the whole southern Coastal Plain of North Carolina as an "aboriginal Basin Street" where northern and southern cultural elements mixed. 

Specific references concerning the Indian tribes that inhabited the South Coastal Region of North Carolina at the time of earliest European contact are rare and vague.  Three Siouan-speaking tribes are reported to have occupied portions of this region:  the Cape Fear Indians, the Waccamaw and the Woccon.  Swanton (1946) groups all three under the Catawba division of the Siouan linguistic stock, but further assigns the former two to the Pee Dee branch.  The Cape Fear Indians were observed at the mouth of the Cape Fear River in Brunswick County in 1665.  They were living in a village, probably the town of Necoes identified in the same area in 1661 by a colony of New England settlers.  After the Yamasee War of 1715, they were removed to a location near Charleston, South Carolina.  Swanton (1946:203) speculates that the Waccamaw may have shown up as the "Guacaya" on Francisco of Chicora's list of provinces in 1521.  By the time the English had established themselves in South Carolina, the Waccamaw were inhabiting the Waccamaw and lower Pee Dee rivers near the coast.  The Woccon were encountered by Lawson in 1701 inhabiting an area near the lower Neuse River in two separate villages.  Swanton suggests that both the Woccon and Cape Fear Indians may have been divisions of a larger Waccamaw tribal unit. 

All of these sightings occurred along the Tidewater division of the Coastal Plain and it is quite possible that none of these groups extended inland as far as Pope AFB.  A number of other Siouan-speaking groups inhabiting the fall-line and eastern Piedmont also could have occupied the area prior to European contact, including the Cheraw, Keyauwee and Waxhaw.  However, South (1972) has eloquently argued that too much is sometimes made of the cultural unity of linguistic groups, a point he makes by drawing on historic accounts of various Siouan tribes of the Carolina lowlands.  Observing that the distribution of the South Appalachian Mississippian platform mound system crosscuts the historic Muskhogean-Siouan linguistic boundary, he has shown that similar contrasts existed which might indicate residual cultural differences originating from this system.  The interior Siouan tribes exhibited great variability in social organizational complexity, while both Siouan and Muskhogean coastal groups appear to have had similar house forms that starkly contrasted with those of the interior.  The distribution of burial mounds discussed earlier may also hint of such crosscutting cultural affiliations. 

During the first half of the eighteenth century, increasingly generalized contact with Europeans brought about the demise of indigenous Native American cultures.  Diseases common among Europeans (e.g., measles and smallpox) were devastating to Native Americans, greatly decreasing their populations, often before actual contact.  In addition, Euro-American expansionism, warfare, and general acculturation quickly erased many recognizable native cultures.  Most groups either moved, were killed, enslaved, deported, or assimilated by Euro-American or Afro-American populations.  By 1750, nearly all Native American groups were decimated or displaced.

There is a notable absence of proto-historic, or contact sites in the vicinity of Pope AFB (Benson 1997).  This despite the fact that neighboring counties to the east were home to Native Americans during the colonial era.  Sampson County (which borders Cumberland and Harnett Counties to the east of Pope AFB) is the locus of a remnant group of native Americans known as the Coharie Indians (Gray 1981; Hudson 1976; Wilkins 1980).  A popular legend links the Coharie with John White's lost colony of Roanoke Island and the Croatan tribe with which the colonists purportedly intermarried.  Hudson (1976:493) has observed that the larger amalgamation of native Americans in Duplin, Sampson and Robeson counties, referred to as Lumbees, share more than 20 surnames associated with the Roanoke colonists.  Another possibility proposed by Rights (1957) is that the Coharie represent an amalgamation of a number of dislocated protohistoric tribes who collected in these low country counties as other, more economically exploitable areas were settled by Europeans.

3.2.1.2 Chronologies  In the event that prehistoric archeological sites are identified on Pope AFB, a general chronology, and associated research questions are outlined in Table 3.3.  The chronology in Table 3.3 comes from the North Carolina  Comprehensive Statewide Historic Preservation Plan (North Carolina Historic Preservation Agency 1995).  The ability of data from an archeological site to address the kinds of questions shown in Table 3.3  would help to determine whether the site would be considered eligible for the NRHP.  

3.2.1.3 Native American Concerns   Native American concerns will be taken into consideration in base planning as a part of compliance with AIRFA and NAGPRA (see Section 2.5.3).  The state of North Carolina has recognized six tribes:  Coharie, Eastern Band of the Cherokee, Haliwa-Saponi, Lumbee, meherrin, and Waccamaw-Siouan.  The North Carolina Commission on Indian Affairs works with all six tribes to implement development programs, protect tribal interests and promote official recognition.  The  federal government has recognized only the Eastern Band of Cherokee.  The Cherokee is also the only tribe with a Tribal Environmental Office.  The Tribal Environmental Office is responsible for developing a Tribal Environmental Plan and coordinates with other Tribal programs in promoting cost-effective and environmentally sound economic, community, and social development.  The Cherokee Tribal Environmental Office also coordinates with federal agencies and departments relative to development projects on 

Reservation lands.  Native American groups have not been consulted about cultural resources on Pope AFB. The CRM will contact the Eastern Band of Cherokee point of contact in Section 4.3.4 of this plan to solicit information concerning the location of culturally sensitive areas on Pope AFB.

Table 3.3:  Prehistoric Chronology and Contexts for North Carolina

Date
Classification
Contexts

10,000 to 9000 B.C.


Paleoindian
The Early Peopling of North America

Early man and Late Pleistocene Environmental        Adaptations

Human Factors in Terminal Pleistocene Extinctions

The Big Game Hunters

Human Osteological Evicence of Early Inhabitants

9,000 to 2,000 BC
Archaic
Archaic Adaptations of the Southeast

Archaic Adaptations in Riverine Zones

Domestication of the Dog

A.D. 2,000 to A.D. 1600
Woodland


Post Archaic Adaptations of Riverine Zones

Post Archaic Adaptations of Eastern Coastal Regions

A.D. 1,000 to A.D. 1,600
Mississippian
New Native American Alliances

Trade Relationships

A.D. 1,600 to Present
Historic
Helping Foreigners Survive

Transfer of Technology to Native Peoples

Native Adaptations at Contact

Forced and Voluntary Populations Movements

The New Demographics

Changing Settlement Type

3.2.2  Historic Overview 
3.2.2.1  Regional History  The historic period generally commences with the onset of European contact in 1662.  At this time, the region was controlled by the Cape Fear, Waccamaw and Sissipahaw Indians, on the coastal plain near Cape Fear, the Carolina Algonkian tribes in the Tidewater region to the east, and the Tuscarora to the north and east of the project area, along the Neuse and Tar rivers.  What follows is a very brief description of the early exploration and settlement of the region and an account of the major historical events since that time.

Age of Exploration, 1524-1663  Giovanni da Verrazano, an Italian sailing under the French flag, is believed to have been the first European to discover the mouth of the Cape Fear River in 1524 (McLean and Sellon 1979:7).  Two years later, Lucas Vasquez de Ayllon also visited the area, and one of his ships went aground on the shoals around Cape Fear (Braley 1987:18).  The same year, Ayllon established a colony of some 500 persons on the Carolina coast somewhere near the modern boundary between North and South Carolina.  The colony was a failure and the settlers were removed a few months later. 

Hernando de Soto's monumental expedition (1539-1542) never reached the area, but it is believed that a part of his group may have come within about 100 miles, when they were sent out by the main body to get corn from the Indian town or province of Ilapi (Braley 1987:19).  De Soto's expedition solidified Spanish claims to Florida, a name that then referred to most of the Southeast. 

Between 1562 and 1564, French Huguenots settled in what is now Florida and on Parris Island, South Carolina.  Both settlements were seized by the Spanish in 1565 (Braley 1987:19).  The French threat to Florida spurred the Spanish to establish viable settlements of their own. 

In 1566 and 1567, Juan Pardo established a colony at Santa Elena (Port Royal/Parris Island), and explored into the interior as far as the foothills of the Appalachians.  By the 1570s, the Spanish Franciscans out of Santa Elena were establishing contacts with Indian groups as far north as the Chesapeake Bay.  Those contacts ended when Native Americans revolted and killed a number of missionaries.  Santa Elena was abandoned in 1586 due to similar problems with local Indian groups (Braley 1987:19). 

Also at this time, the first English settlement was attempted on Roanoke Island.  The area was explored in 1584 and the following year a colony was established.  The colony was short-lived as most of the settlers returned to England with Sir Francis Drake in 1586.  In 1587, a second colony was sent out and were left to fend for themselves because of the Spanish Armada.  When supply ships finally returned to Roanoke Island in 1590, the colony had been abandoned, leaving only the word "Croatoan" carved on a post within the palisaded area (Stick 1983).  The fate of this "Lost Colony" is unknown.  As mentioned previously, "Croatan" was the name used by the Lumbee Indians of Robeson County when referring to themselves at the turn of the century (Myrover 1905:21-23).

Early Colonial Period:  Proprietary Rule, 1663-1729  In 1660, Charles II was restored to the English throne after the collapse of Cromwell's Protectorate.  Charles was generous to his supporters, making eight  "Lords Proprietors" in 1663 and giving them control of the newly created colony of Carolina.  Much had happened since the failed settlement on Roanoke Island.  Jamestown had been established in 1607 and by 1660, there were almost 50,000 English colonists living in the colonies of Virginia and Maryland.  The new colony of Carolina was established south of Virginia, on land that was still claimed by Spain. 

The first Carolina settlements sponsored by the Lords Proprietors were in an area of lower Cape Fear and designated "Clarendon County."  In 1662, a colony from Charlestown, Massachusetts, established itself along the lower Cape Fear, 60 miles from the mouth, also calling it "Charles Town", only to abandon it a year later (Corbitt 1975:xxiv; Braley 1987:19-20; Powell 1989:56). 

Also in 1663, a set of commissioners from Barbados, then the foremost English sugar cane colony in the Caribbean, explored the Cape Fear River.  They are believed to have traveled as far as what is now Cumberland County (Loftfield 1979:19).  In 1664, a colony from Barbados was sent out under the command of John Yeamans.  The Barbadans settled in the abandoned settlement of Charles Town.  In January of 1665, Yeamans was made governor of Clarendon County, which reached a peak population of 800 by year's end (Corbitt 1975:xxiv).  Almost immediately, the Barbadans ran into trouble.  The local Indians became hostile after the colonists sold several into slavery.  Food became scarce and the settlement was finally abandoned by 1667 (Braley 1987:19-20; McLean and Sellon 1979:7). 

After two consecutive failures, the Cape Fear area was not seriously considered for settlement for a number of years.  In 1670, John Lederer traveled through the upper reaches of the Cape Fear, and was probably the first Englishman to explore the sandhill area, which he described as a "great desert" (Loftfield 1979:19).  Within a few years, another Charles Towne was well-established on the Ashley and Cooper Rivers in what is now South Carolina, and this became the destination of English settlers and planters leaving overcrowded Barbados. 

At the same time, settlers from Virginia began to move into the Albemarle area of northeast North Carolina.  The coastal area around Albemarle Sound and then Pamlico Sound soon became the focus of North Carolina settlement, establishing a pattern there of small land holdings and small towns.  By the early 1700s, North and South Carolina were effectively different colonies, with Cape Fear as the buffer zone between them. 

This buffer zone remained in place partly due to the presence of powerful Indian groups that would have to be eliminated or removed before European settlement could expand beyond the lower coastal plain.  At the time of the first European encounters, the Cape Fear Indians are believed to have numbered around 500, followed closely by the Waccamaw with 450.  Both of these groups lived on the coastal plain, on or close to the Cape Fear.  The Sissipahaw, who also numbered about 500, occupied the Piedmont area of the Cape Fear, above the fall line.  All of these groups were Siouan-speakers (Braley 1987:10). 

More powerful than these, however, were the Tuscarora, who lived north and east of the project area.  Centered along the Neuse and Tar rivers, the Tuscarora were an Iroquoian-speaking people with connections to groups in the eastern Great Lakes region (Braley 1987:10).  English settlement could never expand beyond the coast as long as the Tuscarora blocked their way. 

A conflict was almost inevitable.  The founding of New Bern at the mouth of the Neuse by Swiss and German settlers in 1710, led to the Tuscarora War of 1711-1715.  Although the war was closely contested, the Tuscarora were finally defeated and removed from the Neuse basin, opening up vast new areas for English settlement (Lee 1968:21-22). 

The Tuscarora War closely paralleled the Yamassee War in South Carolina, after which there were few local Indian groups left on the coastal plains of the Carolinas to impede European expansion.  Those that remained, like the groups along the Cape Fear, had been decimated by disease.  The Waccamaw and Cape Fear Indians soon moved to South Carolina (Braley 1987:20; Lee 1968).  After the Tuscarora and Yamassee Wars, the area between the North and South Carolina colonies began to be settled and by 1725, the town of Brunswick was established on the west bank of the lower Cape Fear. 

In 1729, after years of dissension and mismanagement, North Carolina was finally bought back from all but one of the Lords Proprietors and their heirs, and was turned into a royal colony (Lee 1968:46; Powell 1989:86).  With the close of proprietary rule, the Cape Fear was ready for a wave of new settlement. 

Late Colonial Period:  Royal Colony, 1729-1775  European settlement along Cape Fear was just becoming established by the time North Carolina became a royal colony, but royal governors often favored the area for a number of political reasons.  The older settlements along the Albemarle and Pamlico Sounds usually controlled the colonial assembly, which was often at odds with the governor.  To complicate matters, the shares of one of the original Lords Proprietors were never bought out, and his heir, John Carteret, later the Earl of Granville, collected quitrent from the northern portion of North Carolina until the very end of colonial rule.  For all these reasons, royal governors gravitated to the lower Cape Fear settlements, an easy task since there was still no permanent capital.  It was only in 1765 that New Bern was finally made the permanent seat of government as a geographic compromise between Albemarle and Cape Fear (Powell 1989:146). 

River transportation was also easier along the Cape Fear than in the northern sound area.  Settlement in the lower Cape Fear began with the founding of Brunswick Town in 1725, but it escalated with the establishment of Wilmington in 1733 (Robinson 1986:28).  By this time, the lower Cape Fear was organized into New Hanover County.  In 1733, a map of North Carolina depicted the new settlements along the Cape Fear:  English settlements were located close to the coast and Welsh settlements were found a little further inland, but the sand hill area was virtually unoccupied (Fig. 3.5).  In fact, the only group depicted in that area was a "Palatine Settlement," located north of Rockfish Creek (Moseley 1733).  These colonists came from the Palatinate, a section of the German Rhineland.

As a result of continued settlement along the lower Cape Fear, Bladen County was carved out of New Hanover in 1734 (Loftfield 1979:18).  For two decades, Bladen County encompassed all of the Cape Fear valley from the Welsh settlements in the south to the 

Fig. 3.5.  Detail from Moseley Map, 1733 

fledgling Palatine community far in the interior. By the early 1730s, Highland Scots had begun to settle on "Old Bluff," the rise on the east side of the Cape Fear and opposite what would later be Fayetteville (Parker 1990:9).  Soon, Scottish enclaves were springing up on the west bank, covering the shores from Rockfish Creek in the south to the Lower Little River in the north.  The geographic center of this settlement came to be the Cross Creek area, located between the two streams (McLean and Sellon 1979:8; Powell 1989:106). 

The colonial government supported this development.  In the 1730s and 1740s, Royal Governor Gabriel Johnston actively promoted the immigration of Highland Scots as part of his plan to attract foreign Protestants to North Carolina by exempting them from taxes for 10 years (Meyer 1961:72-73; Powell 1989:106).  To facilitate this settlement, the Highlanders received land grants of up to 640 acres, with most falling in the 200 to 400-acre range.  The grants were based on the assumption that each family should get 50 acres per person, including servants (Lautzenheiser 1993:12; Meyer and Reed 1993:22). 

To obtain a land grant, settlers disembarked at Wilmington, then traveled upriver in small boats propelled by oars and long poles (McLean and Sellon 1979:8).  Settlers would claim the land, then appear at the local courthouse, where a warrant for the land was issued.  The settler paid for the land and received a grant after the land was surveyed (Meyer and Reed 1993:22). 

Highland Scot immigration continued along the upper Cape Fear from the 1730s until the outbreak of the American Revolution in 1775.  The forces propelling this immigration were complex.  Contrary to popular belief, only a few, if any, came as a direct result of being expelled from Scotland after Bonnie Prince Charlie was defeated by the Duke of Cumberland at the Battle of Culloden in April of 1746.  This defeat resulted in clan holdings being divided up, forcing an exodus which became so great that many people feared the Highlands would be permanently depopulated. 

According to a tradition common in the 1800s, most of the Highland Scots on the Cape Fear were pardoned rebels, who were forced to take an oath of allegiance to George II.  This probably became a popular myth because it explained why many of the Cape Fear Scots remained loyal to the British Crown during the American Revolution.  However, modern research shows that the migration of Highland Scots was much more gradual and not directly the result of pardoned rebels seeking land.  In fact, most Highland Scots migrated out of the Western Islands, specifically Argyll and Inverness.  Argyll was home of the Campbell clan, which supported the ruling House of Hanover (Meyer 1961:18-59, 151).

The only eighteenth century reference to disloyal Highlanders in North Carolina came from the unfortunate Palatines, who had settled on the upper Cape Fear in the early 1730s, but were now overwhelmed by the influx of Highland Scots.  In 1747, they complained to the British Board of Trade that Governor Johnston favored the rebel Scots at their expense.  This appears not to have been true, at least the part about the rebels.  Johnston was not tarred with this accusation by anyone else, and he had many enemies throughout the colony (Meyer 1961:23-24). 

By the 1750s, Scottish settlement was large enough to justify the creation of another county, which was split off from Bladen in 1754.  The new county was named Cumberland, in honor of William Augustus, Duke of Cumberland, son of George II, and the victorious general at the Battle of Culloden (Corbitt 1975:79; Meyer 1961:81).  It may not have been irony that led to its name, but a calculated insult on the part of the colonial assembly, which was dominated by the English (Powell 1989:106). 

The following year, the population of Cumberland County was pegged at 302 white males (taxable), 63 blacks, and 11 mulattoes (Parker 1990:8), with at least 30 more males or heads of families that were not formally listed on this tax roll.  By the 1750s, Scottish settlement was dense along the Cape Fear between Rockfish Creek and Lower Little River, and it was expanding along the larger tributaries that drained the sand hills to the west (Fig. 3.6; Meyer 1961:98-99).

By the 1750s, the mouth of the Lower Little River was well-settled.  Hector McNeill had 200 acres on the north side of the Lower Little River, while the rest of the McNeill family was scattered along the same stream (Jones and Roberts 1993:10).  The first county seat for Cumberland County was established here, at the confluence of the Lower Little River with the Cape Fear.  The courthouse was established at the mouth of the Lower Little River, on lands that belonged to Thomas Armstrong.  A small community grew up around the county courthouse, which was built with logs like the other structures around it (Parker 1990:9; Oates 1972:454).

The courthouse community soon became known as Chofferington, sometimes written Choffington or even Choeffington (Jones and Roberts 1993:10; Parker 1990:9; Oates 1972:454; Hairr and Powell 1992:1).  It was originally known as "Chaffering Town," after the old English word, "chaffer," meaning "to bargain or haggle over price."  The town did not prosper.  A fever epidemic between 1759 and 1761 led to demands that the county seat be relocated to a less swampy location (Hairr and Powell 1992:1).  After the county seat was removed in 1763, the site of Chofferington was soon abandoned.  Remarkably enough, remains of the town were still visible as late as the 1880s (Oates 1972:454). 

The Cumberland County seat was moved to "Campbellton," a community established in 1763 at the juncture of Cross Creek and the Cape Fear River.  Campbellton was designed to be a river port and was close to the older community of "Cross Creek," situated on Cross Creek one mile upstream or to the west, above the river's floodplain (Robinson 1986:30; Parker 1990:9; McLean and Sellon 1979:8).  Even though Campbellton was designated county seat, it did not grow as fast as Cross Creek, which was soon a bigger town as well as the premier trading center for the whole area (McLean and Sellon 1979:9).  By 1770, Cross Creek contained some 100 buildings, making it the largest town within the upper Cape Fear (Robinson 1986:30). 

Fig. 3.6.  Highlander Settlement along the Middle Cape Fear (1733 - 1775)

Cross Creek grew at the expense of Campbellton, due to Scottish expansion out of the river bottoms and into the sand hills.  This was accomplished first by moving along the larger streams, then establishing communities along the ridge lines that soon became roads leading much further into the interior.  This inland area funneled trade into Cross Creek, which then had access to Wilmington by way of Campbellton on the barge and light boat traffic that plied the Cape Fear River.  Soon Campbellton and Cross Creek 

were effectively merged into a single community that was usually referred to as Cross Creek.  Cross Creek was also the eastern terminus of an overland route established with the new settlements along the Yadkin River in west central North Carolina.  This development occurred very quickly in the 1750s, as the Yadkin valley was settled almost simultaneously by Moravians, Germans, Quakers, and Scots-Irish, all moving down the Appalachian valleys from Pennsylvania into the Carolina Piedmont (Oates 1972:1).  In 1753, the Moravians set up a sizable community at Salem that quickly became the economic focus of the region. 

Since the Yadkin River flows into South Carolina (where it is known as the Pee Dee River), efforts were soon underway to connect the Yadkin with eastern North Carolina in order to prevent loss of its trade to another colony.  This led to the Yadkin Road, which was established by 1756 between Salem and the Cross Creek area (Parker 1990:57; Jones and Roberts 1993:11).  Cross Creek profited from the Yadkin Road, as Moravian merchants established a presence in the area (Meyer 1961:111).  The connection between Cross Creek and Salem quickly developed into one of the most important east-west routes in North Carolina and remained important well into the nineteenth century. 

In part because of the Yadkin Road, and partly due to their own population crush, the Highlanders soon moved onto the sandy ridges that often served as road beds.  This led to the development of crossroads communities along the east-west ridge line.  In the Fort Bragg-Pope area, the most important of these were Argyle (later known as Longstreet), Inverness, Monroe's Crossroads, and Campbell's Crossroads (Fig. 3.7).  The oldest and largest of these communities, as well as the one closest to the project area, was Argyle (Loftfield 1979:30; Braley 1987:21). 

Argyle was established in the 1750s along the Yadkin Road, about 10 miles west of Cross Creek and roughly 5 miles southwest of what is now Pope Air Force Base.  The site of Argyle is located in the eastern half of present-day Fort Bragg.  One of Argyle's first settlers was Alexander McKay, who set up a Presbyterian church.  Reverend James Campbell, preached in both English and Gaelic at this church (Loftfield 1979:21).  By the 1760s (sources differ as to the date), the church had become the Longstreet Presbyterian Church (Parker 1990:10).  Although the original structure no longer stands, a second-generation building, erected around 1847, is currently on the National Register (Loftfield 1979:30-31). 

Even earlier, John Smith and his son, Malcolm, may have built a residence in the Argyle area as early as 1735 or 1736.  Supposedly, Malcolm built his own house around 1740 (Loftfield 1979:30-31).  If these dates are correct, the Smith houses were among the

Fig. 3.7.  Historic Roads and Communities in the Bragg/Pope Area 

oldest built within the general area.  Years later, Lord Cornwallis is reported to have visited the Malcolm Smith House, which survived all the vicissitudes of the nineteenth century, only to be consumed in a forest fire in 1925 (Loftfield 1979:25).

None of these crossroads communities appears on colonial maps dated to the 1770s.  

The Collett map (Fig. 3.8) depicts Rock Fish River; the Cross Creek settlement; the road and bridge across the Lower Little River; and the unidentified road along the crest of the sand hills west of Cross Creek that was almost surely the Yadkin Road.  This map also shows the county courthouse on the banks of the Lower Little River, which had been removed to the Cross Creek area years before.  The Mouzon map of 1775 is almost identical. 

By the 1770s, the Highland Scots had spread from the banks of the Cape Fear to scattered settlements north, west and south, occupying an area that today would encompass the counties of Cumberland, Harnett, Lee, Moore, Hoke, Richmond, Scotland, and Robeson (Meyer 1961:100).  Although the Scots formed the majority within this area, it was never to the exclusion of other groups.  English settlers moved into the area from the south and the east, just as some Scots-Irish moved in from the Piedmont and up the Cape Fear.  Relatively few Highlanders lived in the commercial center of Cross Creek, since most preferred rural life and small communities (Meyer 1961:117). 

Almost all of these groups learned to build log houses, which remained the norm well into the 1800s.  As a rule, log homes were small and were chinked with clay (Traver 1990:I.21).  Most people lived by farming and stock-raising.  Farming was most common along streams, where the soil was less sandy.  In the 1700s, settlers were poor and most used hoes rather than plows.  Among the staples commonly grown were Indian corn, wheat, oats, peas, beans, flax, and sweet potatoes.  Because this sort of agriculture was so labor intensive, and because the soil was often poor, it was more common, especially in the uplands, to raise animals.  Although a variety of livestock was raised, from cattle to sheep to horses, the most common animal was the hog, which could thrive on almost any kind of vegetation (Meyer 1961:103-105; Meyer and Reed 1993:24; Loftfield 1979:23). 

While agriculture and stock-raising were the norm during the colonial period, naval stores also became important.  Pine products like tar and pitch were essential for the maintenance of wooden ships, and the British government offered bounties to ensure the production of naval stores for the Royal Navy.  By 1768, an estimated 60 percent of all naval stores products come from the American colonies, and North Carolina and the Cape Fear valley led in that production (Powell 1989:135). 

All of these activities -- agriculture, stock-raising, and even naval stores production - were common in the vicinity of the Lower Little River and the general project area.  There was also an additional enterprise made possible by the Lower Little River and the presence of Cross Creek just 10 miles to the southeast.  This was the maintenance of roads and toll bridges.  All of these elements played a role in colonial life along the Lower Little River. 

Fig. 3.8.  Detail from Collett Map, 1770

Years before there was a Chofferington, there was settlement along the Lower Little River.  As early as 1735, Richard French received a grant of 640 acres that stretched from Beaver Dam Swamp to the mouth of the Lower Little River.  Two years later, Geoffrey Dawson got 640 acres on the Cape Fear opposite the mouth of the Lower Little.  By about 1740, Dawson was operating a ferry across the river (Hairr and Powell 1992:1-2, 15).  It was perhaps on the strength of this activity that the mouth of the Lower Little River was made site of the first seat of Cumberland County. 

Although the county seat was moved to the Cross Creek area in 1763, the Lower Little River was still important as a crossroads.  Initially not as significant as the Yadkin Road, the route crossed the Lower Little River and connected Cross Creek with all points to the north.  Later, as this route became more significant, it would also connect Cross Creek with Salem, over 100 miles away to the northwest.

The first bridge over the Lower Little was built by Richard Treadway in the early 1750s, close to where U.S. Highway 401 now crosses the stream.  In addition to a bridge, Treadway also had a tavern license.  By the 1770s, Treadway's bridge was in bad repair, and when he died in 1777, the bridge was destroyed.  It was replaced by a second bridge, built by Malcolm McNeill between 1778 and 1780.  Known as "McNeill's Bridge," and later "William's Bridge," it too was situated near Highway 401.  Another early bridge in the same general area belonged to the Hodges family, and is believed to have been where N.C. Highway 217 crosses the Lower Little River, between the 401 and the Cape Fear (Hairr and Powell 1992:38-40). 

Both highways cross the Lower Little almost 15 miles downstream from the project area and are much closer to the site of Chofferington and the mouth of the Lower Little than they are to Pope Air Force Base.  Unfortunately, the available sources are contradictory as to the location of the Daniel Monroe bridge, which is believed to have spanned the Lower Little River immediately north of what is now Pope Air Force Base.  One source, "Where Choeffington Once Stood" (Hairr and Powell 1992), is very specific about the locations of the Treadway, McNeill, and Hodges bridges, but much more vague about the Monroe Bridge.  Their text suggests that the Monroe Bridge was located near N.C. 217, but all other sources and maps suggest that the Monroe Bridge was located immediately north of the project area, not in the vicinity of Chofferington.  This impasse could be resolved if there were in fact two Monroe bridges: one inherited by Monroe near Chofferington, and the other located further upstream, where Monroe actually lived.  Even Hairr and Powell suggest this, discussing what could be considered two different bridges located in totally different portions of their report (Hairr and Powell 1992:39-40, 61-62). 

The first discussion of the Monroe Bridge (Hairr and Powell 1992:39-40), identifies it as the Stephen Phillip's Bridge, built in the 1750s and passed to Daniel Monroe (or Munroe) after the decline of Chofferington.  This is the bridge thought to be near N.C. 217.  Monroe was allowed to collect bridge tolls, but there was a ford nearby for those who could not pay.  The bridge became free in 1776.  In 1790, it was noted that the bridge was still valued at £160.  After both Monroe and his wife died, the bridge fell into disrepair. 

The second discussion of Daniel Monroe notes that Monroe was born March 8, 1728, and died 58 year later, on December 10, 1786.  Monroe was reported to have owned a bridge over the Lower Little River, as well as a tavern, which was in operation as early as 1758.  He also operated a grist mill on the stream.  Monroe was apparently a man of some means, since he served as constable during the 1760s.  He was buried at the Old Scottish cemetery by McKeithan's Ferry on the west bank of the Cape Fear (Hairr and Powell 1992:61-62). 

While this information is not proof that Monroe operated two bridges, literally all other sources refer to a Monroe Bridge immediately north of the project area.  Certainly all available sources indicate that Lord Cornwallis crossed a "Monroe Bridge" in this area in 1781.  Although the original bridge probably did not survive into this century, there was a Monroe Bridge in that same area when Fort Bragg was established. 

War for Independence, 1775-1783  The French and Indian War (1756-1763) eliminated the French and Spanish threat to Britain's colonies along the eastern seaboard, leaving the British in control of eastern North America.  To help defray the enormous war debt, the British government began a policy of taxing the American colonies.  This taxation was highly unpopular since the colonists had no say in the matter.  A break with Britain was formally proclaimed on July 4, 1776, in the Declaration of Independence. 

The first year of the war saw the retreat of the British from Boston, and a largely internecine struggle between Patriots and Loyalists.  In the Cape Fear area, Royal Governor Martin tried to foment a loyalist uprising.  Already expelled from the colonial capital at New Bern, Martin operated out of a British warship moored at the mouth of the Cape Fear.  Martin hoped and the Patriots feared that the Highlanders would respond to his call (Rankin 1971:11-37). 

Many Highlanders answered the call and the Cross Creek area became a staging point for loyalist elements throughout central North Carolina.  Many responded because they were relatively poor, without land, or were new to the area and had no attachments to the Patriot cause (Rankin 1971:35-37).  Many also knew first hand the power that the British government could bring to bear, and probably did not believe the Patriots could win (Powell 1989:108). 

For whatever reason, Loyalists began to congregate at Cross Creek in early 1776 for a march down the Cape Fear, where they would rendezvous with Martin's small British force at the mouth of the river.  Led by Donald McDonald, some 1,600 loyalists began the march from Cross Creek on the west side of the river.  When confronted by a force of Patriots led by Colonel James Moore at the bridge over Rockfish Creek, McDonald's Loyalists returned to Cross Creek.  Here they were ferried to the east bank and resumed their march on the opposite side of the river.  This line of march was finally intercepted on February 27, 1776 at Moore's Creek Bridge, where the loyalists were routed and much of their force later were captured.  After Moore's Creek, Highland Scot loyalist activity subsided greatly (Rankin 1971:40-54; Braley 1987:21-22).  It was not until the invasion of Cornwallis five years later that most loyalists dared come out of hiding. 

Lord Cornwallis's campaign through North Carolina was part of Britain's "Southern Strategy" for winning the war.  Inaugurated in December 1778 with the seizure of Savannah, the British soon re-established control over Georgia.  In 1780, Charleston was recaptured and South Carolina started to slip from Patriot control (McEvedy 1988:62).  In early 1781, the British commander, Charles Cornwallis, began the invasion of North Carolina, only to win a Pyrrhic victory at the battle of Guilford Courthouse on March 15, 1781.  After the battle, Cornwallis was determined to leave the Piedmont and make his way to Wilmington via Cross Creek for new supplies.  Cornwallis left the Guilford Courthouse area and began his move toward Cross Creek on March 18.  When the British reached Ramsey's Mill on Deep River, along what is now the south border of Chatham County, Cornwallis had to pause to build a bridge.  This gave Nathanael Greene, the American commander, a chance to trap the British.  Cornwallis, however, learned of this maneuver and crossed the Deep River ahead of time, on March 28.  Greene did not pursue the British any further with his main army because he too was short on supplies and because Cornwallis had entered "vile Toryish country" (Rankin 1971:313-315). 

According to local sources, Cornwallis's army crossed the Lower Little River at Monroe's Bridge just north of present-day Pope Air Force Base around March 28, 1781.  The army passed what is now Fort Bragg's water filtration plant, crossed Pope Air Force Base from north to south on the Monroe Road toward Cross Creek.  Local tradition maintains that Cornwallis visited the home of Daniel Monroe and his son Malcolm, which was located on the south side of the Lower Little River within what is now Pope Air Force Base.  It is also held that Cornwallis left the route of the army to visit the community of Argyle, where he was entertained by Duncan Ray, a prominent Tory who then occupied the house of Malcolm Smith (Loftfield 1979:25-26). 

Cornwallis's route through Pope Air Force Base is corroborated by a sketch map of Cumberland County compiled the following year.  According to this map, Cornwallis almost surely took the Hillsboro Road ("Road to Hillsboro"), which was the most direct route between Deep River in Chatham County and Cross Creek (Fig. 3.9).  The Monroe Road was just a small part of this overall route.  Cornwallis's presence brought a brief resurgence of Loyalist or Tory activity.  Loyalists who had been hounded for years were now able to exact revenge on their Patriot neighbors (also called Whigs).  One such incident occurred on what is now the west side of Fort Bragg Military Reservation.  On August 4, 1781, in an incident called the Piney Bottom Massacre, a group of local Tories, led by John McNeill, surprised and killed a similar group of local Whigs (Loftfield 1979:26). 

Though the killings were later avenged (Braley 1987:22), the Piney Bottom Massacre was one of the last encounters of the War of Independence within North Carolina.  By

Fig. 3.9  Road Between Deep River and Cross Creek, 1782

August, Cornwallis was already engaged in a new offensive in Virginia, where he met with initial success.  By fall, however, he had become trapped by a French and American army and the main French battle fleet.  On October 17, 1781, Cornwallis and his army of 8,000 were forced to surrender at Yorktown, which effectively ended the War for Independence (McEvedy 1988:62).  Ironically, one of the townships of Cumberland County, "71st Township," was named for the Highland Scots regiment that served under Cornwallis and surrendered with him at Yorktown (Parker 1990:21). 

Early American Period, 1783-1830s  In the late 1700s and early 1800s, Cumberland County developed beyond subsistence farming and stock-raising, and the Cross Creek area continued to develop as a commercial and trading center.  However, the War of Independence left a permanent mark on the area, as Cross Creek became known as Fayetteville, in honor of the Marquis de Lafayette, George Washington's friend and Patriot commander.   Years before the end of the war, in 1778, the North Carolina General Assembly combined the communities of Cross Creek and Campbellton into a single entity called "Campbellton," often referred to as Upper and Lower to distinguish the two settlements.  In 1783, the name was again changed from Campbellton to Fayetteville, the first of several communities throughout the United States to be so designated (McLean and Sellon 1979:10).

Despite any lingering Tory associations, the community of Fayetteville was too important and too centrally located to be ignored.  For a number of years (1786, 1788-1790, and 1793), Fayetteville was the capital of North Carolina, with Market House serving as the state capitol building.  It was at Market House, on November 21, 1789, that North Carolina became the twelfth state to ratify the United States Constitution (McLean and Sellon 1979:10).  Years later, on March 4, 1825, General Lafayette came to visit the city during his last visit to the United States (McLean and Sellon 1979:13). 

By that time, Fayetteville was one of the principal cities of the state and could boast of a number of newspapers and schools.  The current newspaper, "The Fayetteville Observer," began in 1817 as the "Carolina Observer." The Fayetteville Academy opened its doors in 1799, and was followed by the Fayetteville School Association in 1818, the Ravenscraft Academy in 1831, and the Donaldson Academy the following year (McLean and Sellon 1979:13-14). 

By the early 1800s, clapboard constructions began to replace log houses as general wealth increased and the plantation system began to take hold, especially in the river valleys.  An unfortunate corollary of this development was the further spread of black slavery, which was well-established in the bottomlands by the end of the eighteenth century.  More common along the upland streams were the grist mills and saw mills that ground grain and planed the wood needed for the new clapboard houses (Loftfield 1979:21; Meyer 1961:103-105). 

The big agricultural staple in the Fayetteville area during this period was tobacco.  In the late 1700s and early 1800s, Fayetteville competed successfully for its share of the tobacco market against the larger cities of Petersburg and Richmond in Virginia.  The city had three or four large warehouses, each one capable of handling thousands of hogsheads of tobacco.  There was even a chewing tobacco factory that operated from 1816 to 1826, after which the local tobacco trade went into decline (McLean and Sellon 1979:11-12). 

The local tobacco market had shrunk drastically by 1830, partly due to poor management at the state level.  The quality of North Carolina's tobacco inspection declined, while Virginia's improved, driving the best trade north (McLean and Sellon 1979:11-12).  The tobacco industry was in the doldrums but it had already helped establish Fayetteville as one of the hubs of south central North Carolina. 

Tobacco also helped strengthen the tie between Fayetteville and the Piedmont, maintaining a connection that had existed since the mid-1700s.  During the heyday of the tobacco era, hogsheads were put on wheels and driven to the Fayetteville market from western North Carolina.  Fayetteville became the eastern terminus of much of the overland trade out of the North Carolina Piedmont.  Beyond that point, there was river transportation to Wilmington, with access to the sea (Myrover 1905:8, 10-11). 

Steamboat transportation became common on the Cape Fear between Wilmington and Fayetteville and attempts were soon made to extend river transportation even further upstream.  The Fayetteville Canal, started in 1819 along the west side of the river, was projected to extend from Strodes Creek in the north, through the city, and back into the river downstream.  The Fayetteville Canal was one of North Carolina's first water improvement projects.  Though plans were completed by 1819 and construction work was begun, it appears that the project was never completed (McLean and Sellon 1979:12; Robinson 1990:28). 

The development of the road network in and out of Fayetteville was far more important.  It can be seen in North Carolina maps that date to this era (Fig. 3.10).  Almost all roads west of Fayetteville funnel into the city, whereas there are far fewer connections with points east.  The number of roads west of Fayetteville is far greater than the number on the east side of the Cape Fear. 

Within the general project area, the number of local roads increased during this period.  In addition to the Yadkin Road (also referred to as the Longstreet Road), there was a roughly parallel route called the Morganton Road, located just to the south and believed to have been blazed around 1796 (Loftfield 1979:26).  The 1808 map depicts a crossroads community or possibly a single residence called "Campbells," located along the Monroe Road just south of Lower Little River.  Virtually nothing is known about this designation. 

Zenith of the Antebellum Era, 1830s-1861  When the local tobacco trade declined in the late 1820s, there was another agricultural staple waiting to replace it.  Cotton began to achieve local dominance in the 1830s, much as it had already done in South Carolina and other parts of the Deep South.  There, cotton had been pre-eminent  for decades, based on 

Fig. 3.10.  Detail from MacRae and Brazier Map of 1883

the invention of the cotton gin in the 1790s and the almost insatiable demand for the fiber in English factories. 

There had long been a demand for cotton clothing, which was both comfortable and easy to clean.  However, until the end of the eighteenth century, it was usually too expensive for common use.  Before the Industrial Revolution, it took at least twice as many man-days to produce a pound of cotton thread as it did for a comparable amount of silk, and at least six times as many as for wool (Johnson 1991:309). 

Starting in the 1770s in England, this situation was turned on its head.  First, there was Arkwright's spinning machine and Hargreave's jenny.  By the end of the 1700s, all English cotton was spun by machine and there was an increasing demand for it.  Another revolution in cotton manufacturing occurred when high-velocity gearing first went on line at a factory built in 1818 by Fairbairn and Kennedy in Manchester.  By 1830, finished cotton accounted for more than half of Britain's export trade (Johnson 1991:309). 

Countries around the world scrambled to supply Britain's demand for raw cotton.  Traditionally, cotton came from Egypt or India, but more accessible markets were soon developed.  The greatest of these were the plantations of the American South, where the cotton gin revolutionized the processing of raw fiber, beginning in the 1790s.  In the early 1800s, Southern cotton grabbed the lion's share of the market.  By 1830, Britain was importing 248 million pounds of cotton for its factories, 70 percent of which came from the southern U.S.  By 1860, 92 percent of the more than 1 billion pounds of cotton came from the South (Johnson 1991:310-311). 

The phenomenal rise of cotton brought on the heyday of the plantation system throughout the South, including Cumberland County.  Slavery, already entrenched, became common.  The 1850 Federal Census indicates that Cumberland County contained 12,447 whites, 7,217 black slaves, and 946 free blacks.  By 1860, 28 percent of white families had slaves, even though most of these (67%) owned fewer than 10 (Braley 1987:23).

Fayetteville was largely reshaped during this era.  Much of the city was destroyed in the fire of May 29, 1831, when over 600 structures including Market House were burned.  The historic structure was rebuilt on the same spot.  Five years later, in 1836, the Federal government constructed a U.S. Arsenal on Haymount Street, which became the storage center for arms in the Fayetteville area.  The Arsenal quickly became the pride of the city (McLean and Sellon 1979:14). 

In the general project area, of more immediate importance than cotton cultivation was the presence of cotton mills, most of which were small and used water power provided by sand hill and fall line streams.  Cotton mills became an important component of the local economy during the 1840s and by the time of the Civil War, the most prominent cotton factories were Blount's Creek, Mallett's, Rockfish, Beaver Creek, and Little River (or Murchison's).  All of these mills were wooden structures that produced ordinary cloth, cotton sheeting, and yarn (Myrover 1905:15).

The first cotton mill was established in the Fayetteville area in 1824, but it later folded.  By about 1840, it was reorganized as the Cross Creek Manufacturing Company.  Merchant's Mill on Blount's Creek was spinning cotton as early as 1836.  The Mallett (or Mallet) Cotton Mill began operation by mid-century, while the Rockfish-Melbane Manufacturing Company on Rockfish Creek was one of the oldest textile mills in the state (McLean and Sellon 1979:12-13, 15).

Although cotton was the mainstay of most mills, there also were other mills.  Most of these were grist mills, but a few manufactured nails, linseed oil, and paper.  The largest of these was probably the paper mill on Rockfish Creek, which was in operation during the 1850s, but was destroyed by Sherman in 1865 (McLean and Sellon 1979:13). 

By far the largest mill in the project area was the Manchester Factory (also known as the Murchison Mill) on the Lower Little River.  The Manchester Mill contained between 1,900 and 2,800 spindles, depending on the source, and 55 plaid looms (Oates 1972:440; Parker 1990:103-104).  Originally established around 1840, the water-power machinery was set up by Berry Davidson of Alamance County, who was active in the area between 1845 and the outbreak of the war (Oates 1972:807).  At some point before it was burned by Sherman, it is believed to have made at least a partial switch to steam power (Parker 1990:103-104). 

The mill became the impetus for the growth of the Manchester community on the Lower Little River, about one mile northeast of present-day Pope Air Force Base.  This soon led to the Manchester Bridge and a new road to Fayetteville, all of which quickly eclipsed the older Monroe Bridge and crossing area.  After the 1840s, the Monroe Bridge crossing would never again be as popular as that of Manchester.  As a rule, cotton cultivation could not be supported in the sand hills.  However, the one industry thrived in this setting made a comeback around 1840:  the naval stores industry.  From around 1840 to the Civil War, cotton in the bottomlands and naval stores in the uplands formed the core of regional antebellum prosperity. 

During this period, the naval stores industry reached its height in the Cape Fear area.  Making use of the vast stands of long-leaf pines that still covered the sand hills, the industry was based on gum collection from live trees; the distillation of turpentine and rosin from the gum; and the manufacture of tar and pitch from dead wood and stumps.  Gum collection was the most essential aspect of the industry, and local naval stores expanded in the antebellum era with the development of semiportable copper stills that could be set up in the interior.  This made some local processing possible, as well as cut down on the bulk that had to be transported to the large distilling centers on the coast, such as Wilmington and New Bern (Robinson 1991:12). 

As manufacturing and commerce increased during the first half of the nineteenth century, faster means of transportation became popular all over the Western world.  On the open sea, there was the development of the clipper ship, while steam became popular on river courses.  On land, transportation was much more costly, but even here there were turnpikes and "Macadamized" roads.  The most popular mode of land transportation was the railroad, perfected in Britain in the 1810s and 1820s, and brought to the United States almost immediately thereafter.  By the late 1830s, railroads were being laid throughout the United States, tying major cities together, but most importantly, providing reliable land transportation between inland areas and seaports. 

In the late 1830s and 1840s, when the first rails were being laid in North Carolina, Fayetteville worked hard to attract a local railroad.  For whatever reason, the city failed in this effort (Parker 1990:57).  Raleigh and the cities of the Piedmont were connected to Virginia, New Bern, and Wilmington, as well as points in South Carolina, but not one of those lines passed through Fayetteville.  To compensate, by the late 1840s, Fayetteville began building "farmer's railroads" (Robinson 1986:32), more commonly known as plank roads. 

Constructed at a fraction of the cost of a railroad, plank roads originated in Canada in 1836, and soon became popular in various parts of New England, New York, and Pennsylvania.  Plank roads were constructed by preparing a road bed, then laying stringers along the edges and the middle of the bed.  Wooden planks were placed across the stringers.  These planks were covered with a thin layer of sand to hold the construction together (Fort Bragg n.d.; Braley 1987:24).  

There was a wave of support for plank roads in the North Carolina legislature:  during the 1848-1849 session, money was appropriated for the state's first farmer's railroad.  The "Fayetteville and Western Plank Road," was to be between 10 and 20 feet wide, with a right of way of 100 feet (Fort Bragg n.d.).  Plank roads were ideal for the Fayetteville area because pine wood was plentiful and the soil was sandy. 

The Fayetteville and Western Plank Road began construction in October 1849 in Fayetteville and progressed to the northeast, toward the Yadkin Valley.  The first 11 miles of construction took the line along what is now Murchison Road to the Manchester Mill on the Lower Little River, one mile east of what is now Pope Air Force Base.  The final destination was to be Salisbury, but after a railroad line was laid through that town, the destination was shifted slightly north to Salem (Fort Bragg n.d.).  By completion in 1854, the Fayetteville and Western Plank Road was 129 miles long.  Often referred to as the Western Plank Road, it was the longest ever constructed in North Carolina (Loftfield 1979:32; Parker 1990:57). 

During the 1850s, Fayetteville became the center of plank road construction in the state.  A total of six plank roads were either constructed or planned in the Fayetteville area.  While most of these were probably never built, the Western Plank Road was soon augmented by the Centre Plank Road between Fayetteville and Richmond County (Braley 1987:24; Parker 1990:57; Loftfield 1979:32). 

In the 1850s, Fayetteville got its first railroad, even though it was only a local line connecting the city with the Egypt Coal Fields near Cumnock in present-day Lee County.  Built by the Western Railroad Company and known as the Western Railroad, this relatively short line crossed the Lower Little River west of Manchester.  After the Civil War, this line was incorporated into the much larger Cape Fear and Yadkin Valley Railway (Parker 1990:57; Loftfield 1979:32; Myrover 1905:19).  This line's right of way forms much of the eastern boundary of what is now Pope Air Force Base, and clips the northeast corner of the base.  Internal real estate records at Pope indicate that this 4.95 acre rail line right of way, Tract 120, was obtained by the Western Railroad Company from D. Murchison on October 15, 1853. 

From all indications, the Manchester cotton mill dominated the area in the years before the Civil War.  Despite this dominance, cotton cultivation and the plantation system was not as prevalent in the general project area as in some other portions of the state, largely due to the relatively poor sandy soil (O'Steen 1992:5).  Communities in the sand hills remained small.  Argyle, now often called Longstreet, after the local church, rarely had more than 15 residents, while Inverness had only about 10 (Loftfield 1979:31).  All of these local features, including the railroad, appear (somewhat inaccurately) on an 1861 Colton map of the area, one of the last local maps made before the Civil War (Fig. 3.11).  Unfortunately, virtually nothing is known about the Daniel Monroe house or any other settlement in the vicinity of Monroe Bridge. 

Civil War, 1861-1865  While the plantation system of the Southern states reached its apogee in the 1840s and 1850s, the South itself felt increasingly threatened by national developments over which it had less and less control.  As the country expanded westward, the Missouri Compromise of 1821 promised parity between free states and 

slave states, based on the 36 degree 30 minute Parallel.  The compromise effectively divided the country into two spheres of influence.  Almost all national events that occurred between 1821 and 1861 can be viewed in that light. 

The "Cotton South," led by South Carolina, left the Union shortly after Abraham Lincoln was elected the first Republican president in November of 1860.  Wilmington and much of the lower Cape Fear, similar to South Carolina with its cotton and a well-developed plantation system, vigorously campaigned for a similar response in North Carolina, but the rest of the state was not yet ready for secession.  Only after Fort Sumter and Lincoln's call for troops did North Carolina, Virginia, Tennessee, and Arkansas join the Southern Confederacy, which quickly moved its capital to Richmond. 

Fig. 3.11  Detail from Colton Map of North and South Carolina, 1861 

The middle and lower Cape Fear valley was strongly pro-Confederate, and unlike much of the rest of North Carolina, remained so throughout the war (Robinson 1990:8).  In Fayetteville, the U.S. Arsenal, seized shortly after secession, was turned into a factory for making small arms.  Over 200 people worked there making rifles, pistols, ammunition, knapsacks, and artillery carriages (Parker 1990:70-75).  According to one source, even blast furnaces were being developed, although they were not finished before the war ended (McLean and Sellon 1979:13). 

Within the project area, it appears that the Manchester Mill was still the predominant feature.  The Manchester community appears on a Confederate map of Cumberland County, dated to 1863.  Though fragmented and in poor condition, the map clearly shows Manchester and the Western Railroad (Cumberland County 1863).  In 1863, the

Manchester factory was owned by a D. L. Kivett, who used the plant to manufacture bobbins (Oates 1972:747). 

After four years of war, the Confederate government in Richmond was sorely pressed by Grant and the Army of the Potomac.  To the south, Sherman's army of 60,000 men was on the verge of marching into South Carolina from Savannah.  In mid-January 1865, Fort Fisher, the enormous sand embankment that protected Wilmington, fell to an amphibious assault.  By the end of February, both Charleston and Wilmington had fallen, and Sherman's troops had cut a line through South Carolina to Columbia and beyond. 

In early March, Sherman was on the border of North Carolina.  A desperate Confederate government had placed General Joseph Johnston in charge of the state's defense, with orders to prevent Sherman from linking with Grant in Virginia, or even the much smaller Federal force under General Scofield, then in New Bern.  In the next month, on the march from the North Carolina line to a rendezvous with Schofield in Goldsboro, Sherman's troops would have to fight three engagements with the retreating Confederates, considerably more resistance than they had experienced in the four months since leaving Atlanta. 

The three engagements were Monroe's Crossroads (March 10), Averasboro (March 16), and Bentonville (March 19-21).  The first two were stings, and the last one a bite at the 

exposed left wing of Sherman's army, headed by Henry Slocum, and protected by General Hugh Judson Kilpatrick, the Federal cavalry commander (Fig. 3.12).  

Kilpatrick was assigned to protect Slocum's exposed left flank and provide him with cover.  This had been rather easy during the South Carolina campaign, if only because the army had been marching in more or less a straight line, due north.  Above Columbia, however, Sherman's army began a broad arc to the east, in order to approach Fayetteville. Situated on the outside track of this turn, Slocum's left wing had to move faster than the rest of the army, and Kilpatrick, on the left side of Slocum, had to move faster still.  As Sherman's army approached Fayetteville, the situation became even more confused, as units were funneled toward the city from the west and south.  There were even instances where retreating Confederates found themselves marching beside advancing Federal troops, all en route to Fayetteville (Belew 1994). 

Fig. 3.12  Civil War Era Map Showing Locations of Monroe’s Crossroads, Averasboro, and Bentonville Battlefields 

By the evening of March 9, Kilpatrick and at least one brigade of his cavalry division were at Monroe's Crossroads along the Morganton Road, just south of the Yadkin Road and about six miles west of Argyle.  Kilpatrick had set up camp on the grounds of two plantations, Rocky Mount and Green Springs, using the home of Charles M. Monroe as headquarters (Loftfield 1979:27; Belew 1994).  Earlier that day, Kilpatrick had learned that his forces occupied ground between the Confederate Infantry Corps commanded by William J. Hardee, already passing through Fayetteville, with the Confederate cavalry riding hard to close the distance.  Kilpatrick then sealed off three of the four parallel roads that led into Fayetteville from the west:  the Morganton, the Yadkin immediately to his north, and the Chicken Road to his south (see Fig. 3.12). 

Kilpatrick had baited the trap, but due to a mistake or misunderstanding, the trap had no teeth:  the pickets that should have been west and north of the Morganton Road were in fact positioned to the south.  Incredibly, no one was in position to warn of the approach of the Confederate cavalry that would be riding in from the west (Belew 1994). 

To make matters worse for Kilpatrick, the Confederate cavalry approaching from the west was a united command comprised of Butler's cavalry division and Wheeler's corps, all under the command of General Wade Hampton.  When the Confederate commanders realized the opportunity that awaited them on the Morganton Road, they decided to attack at daybreak the next day. 

Based on Shelby Foote's (1986:822) estimate of Hampton's combined troop strength in early March, the Confederates probably numbered around 4,000, while Kilpatrick's cavalry division had twice that number.  The numbers that would be involved in the engagement were smaller than that on both sides.  The Confederates could not bring their full strength to bear, just as Kilpatrick was camped at Monroe's Crossroads with just one-third of his command.

At dawn on March 10, Butler's cavalry division, supported by Wheeler, led a surprise attack against Kilpatrick's camp.  Their initial assault drove the unprepared Federal cavalry off the plantation clearings and into the surrounding woods.  Kilpatrick would have been captured, except that he had just gotten out of bed and was not in uniform.  He too escaped into the woods (Belew 1994).  Although surprised, the Federal troopers soon recovered, while the Confederates wasted precious time by looting Kilpatrick's camp.  As the Federal cavalry regrouped and counterattacked, the Confederates were soon forced to withdraw.  By late morning, the Confederate cavalry was once again on the Morganton Road, heading for Fayetteville, having left the field to Kilpatrick's command.  However, Kilpatrick had learned his lesson.  The next day he moved his cavalry division off the left flank of the army and into the midst of an infantry column.  The next evening, instead of pickets, he threw up defense works (Belew 1994). 

For the infantry, any embarrassment for the cavalry was fuel for gossip, and Monroe's Crossroads soon became known throughout Sherman's army as "Kilpatrick's Shirt-tail Skedaddle" (Barrett 1956:130; 1963:301-311).  In his official report, Kilpatrick excused the engagement by claiming that he was attacked by three divisions of cavalry, representing the flower of Southern chivalry under the command of Wade Hampton (Davis et al. 1895:857-863). 

The site of the battle of Monroe's Crossroads, now located near the center of Fort Bragg, in what is now Hoke County, has been designated a historic archeological site, 31HK249 (O'Steen 1992:6).  Considering that the close outcome of the engagement, it is remarkable that the battle is relatively unknown.  Shelby Foote's magisterial narrative of the Civil War does not even mention it in passing.  One reason is that Kilpatrick and Sherman both downplayed the engagement in their correspondence and subsequent reports.  Kilpatrick's near-capture by Confederate cavalry was just too embarrassing to allow a full disclosure (Ken Belew, personal communication 1994). 

Despite the delay at Monroe's Crossroads, Sherman's troops began their entry into Fayetteville on March 11.  The city had already been vacated by the retreating Confederates.  Ironically, the breastworks that had been thrown up back in February to defend the city had been placed on the north side, on a bluff above the Cape Fear, apparently with the expectation that Sherman would approach from that direction (Robinson 1990). 

Once in control of Fayetteville, Sherman sent details throughout the area to burn most of the cotton factories including the Manchester Mill, which was later rebuilt.  Before Sherman pulled out of Fayetteville on March 14, he destroyed the Arsenal with explosives and battering rams (McLean and Sellon 1979:13; Junior Service League 1970; Parker 1990:70-75).  A few days out of Fayetteville, at Averasboro, 11,000 Confederates under Hardee fought a successful delaying action against Kilpatrick's cavalry and Slocum's divisions (Foote 1986:827).  This action cost Slocum's wing of the army a full day's advance, offering enough of a separation between Slocum and the right wing under Oliver Howard, for Confederate Commander Joe Johnston to hatch the battle plan of Bentonville, fought between March 19 and 21.  Originally conceived as a trap for Slocum, the battle was soon joined by the rest of Sherman's army.  Finally it was Johnston who had to escape from a trap.  Johnston retreated toward Smithville, while Sherman kept his rendezvous with Schofield in Goldsboro. 

A month later, the war in the East was over.  The Confederates abandoned Richmond in early April, and General Robert E. Lee surrendered at Appomattox on April 9, 1865.  As a consequence, Johnston felt he had no alternative but to do the same, provisionally surrendering to Sherman at Durham Station on April 17, and again on April 26, after the terms were tightened.  The last hold-out, Kirby-Smith, surrendered the Trans-Mississippi Department one month later and the Civil War was at last concluded. 

Old Ways and New, 1865-1917  The collapse of the Confederacy brought in its wake Reconstruction, which in some states lasted until 1877.  After the election of President Hayes, the Southern states were allowed to sort out their own internal affairs, which in most cases meant a restoration of the old regime.  Slavery was gone forever, but an elaborate system of tenant farming was erected in its place.  The planter class, however, was never again as powerful as it was before the war.  Small farming became more important, and organizations like the Grange and the Farmers' Alliance secured a place for small farmers in the political constellation of the South by the late 1800s. 

Politically, this was a period of considerable flux, as different groups jockeyed for power.  It was also a period of considerable poverty.  For this reason, the rest of the 1800s saw a continuation of older economic trends that had already been established before the Civil War.  Only in the early years of the twentieth century did new economic trends become apparent in the general project area. 

The collapse of the plantation system led to serious dislocations throughout the lower Cape Fear valley.  For those who had formerly been slaves, sharecropping and tenancy became the norm.  Most others continued the tradition of small farming, which had always been strong in the sand hill area (O'Steen 1992:6; Braley 1987:24). 

Another tradition that continued into the post-war era was the naval stores industry.  However, by the 1880s, the best stands of pine had been depleted and the bulk of the industry moved south (Robinson 1991:12).  Even so, remnants of the industry remained behind and survived for many years.  Foremost of these hold-outs within the project area was the "turpentine plantation" of Daniel McDiarmid, who owned large tracts along the Lower Little River, mostly on the north side (Hood 1992). 

This continuation of older trends can be seen in the series of maps that depict the general project area in the late 1800s.  The first of these is the McDuffie Map of 1868 (Fig. 3.13), which shows that the project area had changed little since before the war.  The Manchester community is still shown, as are the Plank Road, the Western Railroad, and the Munroe (Monroe) Road.  The next map, dated to 1882 (Fig. 3.14), also shows Manchester, but the old Western Railroad has been incorporated into the Cape Fear and Yadkin Valley line, with its links to other railroads to the northwest (Kerr and Cain 1882). 

The most detailed of the late nineteenth century maps is the 1884 McDuffie map of Cumberland County (Fig. 3.15).  It shows the full range of small farming and milling in the general project area in the late 1880s.  In addition to the Manchester cotton factory, small mills dot the Lower Little River and most of the small creeks that feed it.  McDiarmid's place is shown on the north side of the river.  The Cape Fear and Yadkin Valley Railroad is clearly shown, but it appears that the old plank road was either no longer in service or was no different from any other local road.  Within the area of present-day Pope Air Force Base, the Monroe Road was still intact and remained one of the most direct routes into Fayetteville from the north.  Adjacent to the Lower Little is the 

J. D. Williams Mill, rated at 198 horsepower.  Much smaller and on the south side of what would become Pope AFB, was the McFadyen (or McFayden) Mill, rated at 20 horsepower.  The McFadyen Mill was located on what is now called Tank Creek. 

In 1884, most of the smaller mills were grist mills (Loftfield 1979:24).  Within the area of the Lower Little River, the McDuffie map indicates that the soil was gray sand with clay subsoil that commonly produced corn, cotton, wheat, rye, and tobacco.  The ridge tops south of the Lower Little had light sandy soil, suitable for long leaf pines, wire grass, and 

Fig. 3.13.  Detail from McDuffie Map of Cumberland County, 1868

Fig. 3.14.  Detail from Kerr and Cain Map of North Carolina, 1882

Fig. 3.15.  Detail From McDuffie Map of Cumberland County, 1868

sheep herding.  The agricultural yield of the ridge top area was more restricted than the bottom lands:  peas, sweet potatoes, and grapes. 

By 1896, Fayetteville was relatively well-connected to surrounding areas by further extensions of the Cape Fear and Yadkin Valley Railroad (Fig. 3.16).  The original line to the northwest was now augmented by other lines that radiated out of the city in three other directions, tying Fayetteville with Wilmington, Smithfield and Raleigh, and Bennettsville, South Carolina.  Argyle, Inverness, and Manchester are still depicted as small communities. 

It was toward the end of the nineteenth century that Manchester probably reached its height as a mill town.  The community was incorporated in 1895, and by the turn of the century had attained a population of 1,000 (Parker 1990:91).  The zenith of Manchester was characteristic of economic development throughout the general project area in the late 1800s, where old economic trends reached their peak, if only because there was nothing yet available to replace them.  By the turn of the century, however, this would no longer be the case.  In the early 1900s, the local economy began to reflect changes that were already occurring in other parts of the country, and the old economy, not that strong anyway, began to fade away.  Manchester was one of the first victims, as the improved transportation network in and out of Fayetteville made its mill obsolete.  In the early 1900s, Manchester entered a period of decline, and by the 1920s, its town government was dead (Parker 1990:91). 

A new transportation network tied Fayetteville more fully into the regional and even national economic network.  Electric lights were introduced into Fayetteville in the 1890s (McLean and Sellon 1979:15).  In the rural areas, new agricultural ventures were made possible by the expanded market for truck farming.  In the early years of the 1900s, it was discovered that the sand hills were suitable for the cultivation of peaches and dewberries (Stephenson 1991:7). 

Despite the advance of truck farming, the sandy soil was still better suited to forest products than to agriculture.  Even the pine stands, however, were on the decline.  After the demise of large-scale naval stores activity in the late 1800s, those left behind engaged in the occupation of last resort:  clear-cut timbering.  Since there was no forest regulation, most pine stands were denuded.  By the late 1910s and 1920s, most pine forests had been cut-over, making the land cheap and relatively useless for other agricultural pursuits (Loftfield 1979:23-24).  Clear-cutting literally paved the way for the establishment of Fort Bragg and Pope Field in the closing days of World War I. 

Improved transportation also brought another asset to the sand hill area:  people with money to spend on recreation.  By the early 1900s, railroads west of the project area were bringing people to Pinehurst and Southern Pines, where they could take advantage of the traditional Scottish game of golf.  Just north of the project area was the development of Overhills, established on the old turpentine plantation of Daniel McDiarmid (Hood 1992). 

Fig. 3.16.  Detail from 1896 Post Route Map of North and South Carolina 

Established at the turn of the century, when the "country-club movement" was in full swing, Overhills comprised some 15,000 acres on the north side of the Lower Little River, 13,000 acres of which had been McDiarmid's old turpentine plantation.  McDiarmid's land had been bought by William Johnston, a Liverpool ship owner, who used the land as a hunting preserve. 

Johnston and his friends formed the Croatan Club of Manchester, which was a hunting club (Hood 1992:8.1).  In the 1920s, most of this hunting preserve was bought by Percy A. Rockefellow.  By 1922, the area was organized into the Overhills Land Company, with Rockefellow drawing in other investors, such as W. Averell Harriman.  The Overhills Land Company reached its height with the construction of the polo barn and "Croatan," Rockefellow's second winter home (Hood 1992).  The Rockefellow family kept ties to Overhills until the 1940s, and even today it is a remarkable environment of lakes, golf-courses, stables, and residences (Stephenson 1991:13). 

Though remarkable, Overhills was a small development compared to what was happening on the south side of the Lower Little River.  Driven by the need for vast training areas for troops and artillery crews during the First World War, this area was soon acquired by the Federal government and was turned into Camp Bragg and its airstrip known as Pope Field.  Both were the early precursors to modern Fort Bragg and Pope Air Force Base. 

3.2.2.2  A Brief History of Pope Air Force Base 

The Creation of Camp Bragg, 1918  The United States entered World War I, in April of 1917.  The United States was largely unprepared for the struggle, so until early 1918 much time was spent raising, equipping, and training an army, which then had to be transported to Europe.  Only by the summer of 1918 were American forces present in sufficient numbers to tip the scales in favor of the Allies.  By September, the Germans were in unstoppable retreat, which led directly to the Armistice of November 11, 1918. 

A number of grizzly innovations came out of the war.  Artillery fire was raised to an art form, with rolling barrages and sophisticated long-range cannons that could project shells enormous distances.  Using a special gun, the Germans could even shell Paris from behind their trenches over 50 miles away.  No less amazing, were developments in aviation.  America's proto-air force, the Aeronautical Division of the Signal Corps, was organized in 1907, but was hardly a fighting force at the beginning of the war (Junior Service League 1970).  An American Air Corps had to be created largely from scratch. 

It was the drastic improvement in artillery, essential to trench warfare, that was the impetus for the creation of a large military reservation in the sand hills west and north of Fayetteville.  A new and enormous range was needed for modern artillery practice and training.  The War Department in Washington, D.C. began considering different locations for such a range in the spring and summer of 1918 (U.S. GPO 1924). 

In June , General William J. Snow, Chief of Artillery for the U.S. Army, sent Colonel Edward P. King out in an automobile to find a suitable site for a new artillery training camp.  The only stipulations were that it had to be south of Washington, D.C., for the weather, close to rail transportation, and on land that would not otherwise be taken out of cultivation.  Traveling with King was Dr. T. Wayland of the U.S. Geological Survey.  After coursing through Virginia and the upper part of North Carolina, they crossed the Lower Little River around Manchester and encountered the sand hill region west and north of Fayetteville.  Even the initial examination told them that their search was at an end (Markham and Roberts 1993:13; Parker 1990:115). 

In July, the Fayetteville newspapers learned that the sand hills north and west of town had been selected for an enormous artillery range (Winters 1918).  On August 21, the War Department authorized the acquisition of the new military reservation.  The site was named "Camp Bragg," after Captain Braxton Bragg, commander of Battery C of the 3rd Artillery at the battle of Buena Vista during the war with Mexico (Fort Bragg c.1967:26; U.S. Army 1988:814; Markham and Roberts 1993:13).  Of course, Braxton Bragg is better known as the Confederate commander of the Army of Tennessee, but apparently the installation was not named for that distinction.  

Construction of the Camp Bragg cantonment began in early September 1918, with initial construction costs pegged at $7 million.  To save on manpower during war-time, the work force was composed mostly of Cubans and Puerto Ricans imported for the task (Braley 1987:24-25; Markham and Roberts 1993:13).  Initially, the Army planned to build a six-brigade field artillery center.  As a result of the Armistice, these plans were scaled back in December to allow for just two brigades (U.S. Army 1988:814). 

Initial construction was completed in February of 1919 (Markham and Roberts 1993:13).  At that time, Camp Bragg's first garrison was brought from Camp McClellan, Alabama.  These included artillery forces, the 32nd Balloon Company, the 84th Photographic Section, the 25th Radio Detachment, and the 1st Air Squadron (Fort Bragg c.1967:31).  In March, the Field Artillery Brigade Firing Center was established, and by April contained some 101 officers and 977 enlisted men (U.S. Army 1988:814).  In July of 1919, Camp Bragg was officially designated an Army post (U.S. Army 1988:814), and Congress voted to make it permanent in December of that year (Markham and Roberts 1993:13-14). 

Before construction work could begin, the area first had to be surveyed.  This was done by the U.S. Geological Survey in 1918.  Within the area that would become Pope Field, the survey map showed the Monroe Bridge and the Monroe Road, trending northwest-southeast.  The map also depicted the local rail line, now referred to as the Atlantic and Yadkin Railroad.  Also shown were the Manchester Bridge and Community (Fig. 3.17).  Aside from Manchester, perhaps the most historical feature on the map was the Monroe Bridge and Road.  While the 1918 bridge almost certainly did not date to the 1700s, it is reasonable to assume that this location was the site of perhaps several bridges.  

The construction of Camp Bragg began the removal of the local civilians throughout much of the upland area between the Lower Little River and Rockfish Creek.  As 

Fig. 3.17.  Detail From Map of Camp Bragg Artillery Training Center, 1918

cantonment construction progressed, the government compensated the small farmers that were displaced.  At that time, an estimated 170 families were affected within the boundaries of Camp Bragg (O'Steen 1992:6; Loftfield 1979:22). A compilation of the pre-military property owners followed closely on the heels of the original mapping work.  This information has been preserved on at least two early property maps, dated to 1919 and 1920.  Some of the individuals or families that held land within present-day Pope Air  Force Base were N. W. Ray, Fannie R. and Charles H. Clark, Isaac Murchison, Fred and James Monroe, A. D. McKenzie, the Clarks, Carters, and the Fairleys (Fig. 3.18).   According to a military map dated to 1943, there was a cemetery located near the center of the soon-to-be Pope Field.  This was the "Monroe Burial," said to contain, "three white and 17 Negro," graves.  According to the map and a tradition still preserved at Pope, this cemetery was located at the center of the base, underneath the main runway.  While this grave site has been identified as a Monroe Family plot, it appears that it does not include the grave site of Daniel Monroe, who reportedly was buried near Chofferington. 

One potential home site survived until at least the mid-1940s.  An untitled aerial photograph, dating to around 1946 and showing the property lines of Pope Field, shows a home site immediately east of Reilly Road in the vicinity of Tank Creek (often referred to in pre-military days as McDuffie Creek).  This area is depicted as private property, sandwiched between the sub-depot area and base squadron (Fig. 3.19).  Virtually nothing is known about this potential house site, except that the property was part of Parcel 12, which belonged to D. M. Fairley just before Camp Bragg was established (see Fig. 3.18).  Unfortunately, this area was bulldozed in later years and now lies underneath the northern end of the northeast-southwest runway (Richard Roller, personal communication 1994).  At present, it is not known whether this potential house site had any affiliation with the Monroe family.  However, the whole area around the modern landing strip can boast a connection.  In recognition of the Monroes, the Army and the Air Force erected a plaque at the edge of a small park on the north side of the runway.  This plaque commemorates the "Monroe Land Grant" on which Pope is now situated: 

In memory of the pioneers from Scotland and many other lands who settled this area in the eighteenth century, raised their families and built the American nation.  Buried nearby are members of the Monroe family who received their land grant from the British Crown in 1770.  Departments of the Army and the Air Force, September 5th, 1993. 

The Creation of Pope Field, 1919  The establishment of Pope Field in 1919 is inextricably linked to Camp Bragg.  From the beginning, the land was part of the original Camp Bragg military reservation, just as the air service itself was a part of the U.S. Army.  Pope and Bragg developed together and it is almost impossible to separate one history from the other.  In the early days, "Pope Field" was an Army airstrip that served Camp Bragg; there was no clear division between Bragg and Pope. 

Pope Field began about the time that the initial Bragg construction was nearing completion.  In early January of 1919, the 276th Aero Squadron, after a year in France, was being readied for transfer from Camp Jackson, near Columbia, South Carolina, to 

Fig. 3.18.  Detail from Fort Bragg Property Map, 1920

Fig. 3.19.  Detail from Untitled Aerial Photo of Pope Field, ca. 1946

their new facilities at Camp Bragg.  First Lieutenant Harley Halbert Pope was the advance officer in charge of the transfer and was responsible for charting the best flight course between the two camps (Junior Service League 1970).   On January 7, 1919, Harley Pope and Sergeant Walter W. Fleming took off in a "Jenny" for Camp Bragg (Junior Service League 1970).  Apparently the weather was bad and they got lost, which cost them precious fuel.  According to one source, they flew along the railroad tracks to Raleigh, and then backtracked to Fayetteville.  When their plane ran out of fuel, they tried to make a landing in the Cape Fear but hit a railroad bridge on the approach (Oates 1972:426).  Another source claims that they hit tree tops on their approach to the river (Junior Service League 1970).  Either way, both Pope and Fleming were killed in the crash. 

The following month, the air strip began operation as the Camp Bragg Flying Field.  In March, it was formally designated a base and on April 1, 1919, it was named Pope Air Field or simply Pope Field, in honor of First Lieutenant Harley Pope, who was posthumously made first base commander (Junior Service League 1970; U.S. Air Force 1989:479).  Although the Air Force did not at the time exist as a separate branch of the service, Pope is generally considered one of the oldest installations in the Air Force (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.1; U.S. Army Corps of Engineers n.d.).  Like the rest of Camp Bragg, the original facilities at Pope Field were constructed between September 1918 and early 1919.  The original constructions were simple, as befit a branch of the Army that was considered better suited for reconnaissance and weather observation than serious fighting (Fig. 3.20).  

The core of Pope Field was a single dirt airstrip that was oriented more-or-less north-south (Drucker and Jackson 1987c).  Monroe Road was re-routed to the northeast to accommodate the landing field.  At the north end of the field, adjacent to Monroe Road, were four wooden hangars that served the field (Fig. 3.21).  Further to the south, along Monroe Road east of the landing strip, was a small encampment labeled "Military Aeronautics." Most of the other cultural features depicted were holdovers from an earlier time:  McFadyen's Pond, the railroad tracks, the Western Plank Road, which was now just a name rather than a real plank road (Lea 1919).  Tank Creek, also apparently known as McDuffie's Creek, had not yet been re-routed and channelized.  Northwest of the airstrip, along Lower Little River, was the Camp Bragg water treatment and pumping plant, located beside Monroe Bridge (Camp Bragg c.1919).  Today, the plant is just outside the boundaries of Pope Air Force Base; still operational, this facility is believed to be one of the oldest standing structures on Fort Bragg. 

In addition to these general maps, the original structures of Pope Field were also drawn in more detail by J. E. Sirrine in 1918 and 1919.  The four-hangar area was known as Aviation Field (Fig. 3.22).  It was precisely in this area that Building 708 (Hangers 4 and 5) would be constructed in the 1930s to replace at least one of the original hangars.  The encampment, identified as "Military Aeronautics," was the cantonment for the 276th Aero Squadron, stationed at Pope Field beginning in 1919 (Fig. 3.23).  This Aero 

Fig. 3.20.  Detail from Field Artillery Training Center Map

Fig. 3.21.  1918 Wooden Hangar

Fig. 3.22.  Aviation Field and Hangars, Pope Field, 1919

Fig. 3.23.  Layout of 1919 Pope Field Cantonment

Squadron cantonment has been gone for decades, but it was located south of what is now Fleming Hall and immediately east of present-day Reilly Street. 

The layout of the first Pope Field cantonment area appears to have been typical for a World War I encampment, when most buildings were arranged in quadrangular blocks, set off by streets that were 50 feet wide (Garner 1993:62-65).  During this time, the smallest administrative line unit of the Army Air Corps was the "squadron," which was comparable to a company in the regular Army.  Each squadron had its own compliment 

of buildings:  a command post, Camp Bragg supply room, day room, mess hall, and between one and four barracks.  Other buildings were optional and less likely in a small cantonment:  theaters, assembly halls, dispensaries, depots, arsenals, warehouses, post exchanges, and bakeries (Garner 1993:19).  It would appear that the Pope Field Squadron had few, if any, of these amenities. 

Most World War I mobilization buildings were based on standardized plans known as Series 600.  The original plans were prepared by the Construction Division of the Army Quartermaster Corps around 1903, and were identified as Series 600 by the time of the war.  The cantonment buildings in Series 600 were designed to be temporary and cheap to build.  Most were unpainted, one-story, gable-roofed buildings with single sash windows, metal chimneys, and tar-paper roofs (Garner 1993:22).  The later Series 600 buildings, introduced in 1917, were often two-story, with stud frame construction.  They also had horizontal plank walls, not the earlier board and batten (Garner 1993:25, 35). 

By the time of the world war, construction of these buildings was based on modules spanning 20 feet with 7-foot bay areas for windows.  Enlisted men's barracks came in three sizes:  20 x 63 feet (37 men), 20 x 70 feet (43 men), and 20 x 147 feet (97 men).  The buildings were heated by wood or coal-burning stoves placed in the middle of the barracks.  Latrines and showers were located in separate facilities (Garner 1993:22-25). 

Most World War I hangars for the Army Air Corps were temporary timber-framed structures that were designed in 1917 by Detroit architect Albert Kahn.  Each hangar enclosed a 66 by 122 foot area and was designed to hold six to eight aircraft.  The gambrel-style roof was supported by a modified Pratt truss.  In 1918, similar designs for permanent steel hangars were introduced (Garner 1993:30), but it does not appear that these were constructed at Pope Field.  From all indications, the first hangars at Pope were wooden structures. 

Bragg and Pope Field in the 1920s  In the 1920s, Pope Field was an integral part of the Bragg Army reservation, and its fate was tied to that of the Army post itself.  Throughout early 1919, the fate of Camp Bragg was secure, if only because, technically-speaking, the First World War did not end until the Versailles Peace Treaty was signed in June of 1919.  By 1921, though, the war was long over and a new administration was in power that promised drastic reductions in military expenditure.  On July 27, 1921, Camp Bragg was ordered vacated by military authorities in Washington, D.C.  Intense political pressure succeeded in getting the order reversed in September, but it was not for another year that Bragg's status was finally determined.  In September of 1922, Camp Bragg was declared to be a permanent installation for all Army artillery units east of the Mississippi River.  It was at this time that the name was changed from Camp Bragg to Fort Bragg (U.S. Army 1988:814; Loftfield 1979:32; Markham and Roberts 1993:13-14; O'Steen 1992:6). 

Fort Bragg made a break with the past in the 1920s, though much of this break was unintentional.  In March of 1925, a fire on the north side of the Lower Little River got out of control, jumped the river, and consumed over 90,000 acres within the military reservation.  Most of the homes that had escaped destruction during initial construction, were now burned to the ground (Braley 1987:25; O'Steen 1992:6).  The fire destroyed the Malcolm Smith house in Argyle, built around 1740 (Loftfield 1979:25).  According to another source, the 1925 fire also destroyed another historic house, possibly the Monroe house, where Lord Cornwallis supposedly paid his toll to use the bridge over the Lower Little River (Fort Bragg c.1967:57-61). 

Coincidentally, the 1925 fire preceded a new program of construction at Fort Bragg.  In 1926, in response to an outcry against substandard quarters for Army personnel, Congress passed a bill to improve Army housing.  Seven hundred eighty-seven thousand dollars was appropriated for Bragg, specifically for new barracks and officers' housing.  The new structures were designed with the aid of the American Institute of Architects (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.3; Braley 1990: vol. I:17-18).  As a direct result of this bill, the historic district of Fort Bragg, often referred to as "Old Post," was established in 1927 (O'Steen 1992:6; Fayetteville Observer 1927). 

The 1927 construction was followed by another wave of construction that took place between 1928 and 1930.  During this period, the older temporary constructions on the base were torn down and replaced by permanent buildings (Fort Bragg c.1967:65).  For this reason, the oldest extant military buildings on the reservation (with the possible exception of the pumping plant on the Lower Little River) are believed to date to this time. 

While Bragg got a facelift during the 1920s, there was relatively little new construction at Pope Field.  No new hangars were built and the airstrip was without a lighting system and beacon until 1930 (U.S. Air Force 1989:482).  As was common for that time, the landing strip was a large grassy field:  pilots often had to buzz the strip before landing to chase away the deer (Junior Service League 1970).  Almost all Pope Field construction was located along Monroe Road, which would later be renamed Reilly Road.  This was the main route to Pope Field from Bragg, and at least part of the course was actually laid out in cobblestones.  The back way into Pope was a dirt trail that later became Armistead Road (Louis 1989). 

While the decade of the 1920s was not a big construction era for Pope Field, the base was in the forefront of changes that would revolutionize the air service.  Known as the "Army Air Service" from February 1919 to 1926, and the "Army Air Corps" from 1926 to World War II, the air service was beginning its transformation from a relatively minor adjunct of the Army to an independent branch of the military (U.S. Air Force 1989:482).   

This change was rather slow at first.  The 276th Aero Squadron, and later the 22nd Squadron, were assigned to Bragg and Pope Field primarily to provide aerial observation for artillery units on the ground.  Equipped with aerial balloons and biplanes like the Curtis JN4-D "Jenny" and the Boeing DH-4Ms "DeHaviland," the air units at Pope Field generally performed support services like aerial photography, mapping, artillery spotting, forest fire observation, and even mail delivery (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.1; U.S. GPO 1924; Louis 1989). 

Despite this adjunct role, Pope personnel made aviation history.  Lieutenants Leroy A. Walthall and Edward P. Gaines set a speed record on January 28, 1922, when they flew a DeHaviland from Montgomery, Alabama, to Pope Field.  On July 4, 1923, the first parachute jump was made at Fort Bragg and Pope Field from artillery observation balloons secured as floating platforms.  At around this time, Pope Field was home to about 13 planes and was served by no more than 40 officers and enlisted men (Fort Bragg c.1967:45, 51). 

Although observation continued to play an important role in the Pope Field mission, the late 1920s saw the development of bombing techniques that would allow the Army Air Force to become a pivotal component of the war effort during World War II.  Aerial bombing had been practiced during the First World War, but the planes used were relatively primitive, had a short range, carried a small bomb load, and were notoriously inaccurate.  In most instances, it was assumed that precision bombing of a military target could not be carried out from the air. 

All of this changed in the early 1920s with William "Billy" Mitchell.  Using a captured German vessel and obsolete American ships, Mitchell demonstrated on at least three occasions that battleships could be sunk from the air.  Although Mitchell was court-marshalled for insubordination in 1925, his actions forced the Army brass to realize the military potential of the airplane. 

Following on the heels of Mitchell's success, was the work of Major Carl Spaatz.  In 1927, Spaatz led a squadron of 14 Keystone B-1 Bombers out of Pope Field on a bombing run over a condemned bridge on the Pee Dee River (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.1).  The success of this operation led to an enlargement of the Pope Field mission to include bomber training (U.S. Air Force 1989:482). 

Pope Field Expansion, 1930s  By the 1930s, Fort Bragg had been in existence for over a decade, and had developed a symbiotic relationship with the small communities that ringed the base.  The mill town of Manchester was now joined by the community of Spring Lake, immediately adjacent to the base boundary.  Neither community was incorporated.  The local rail line was now designated the Atlantic Coast Line and the old Plank Road was now Highway 24 (North Carolina 1938). 

Pope Field was still an integral part of Fort Bragg during this period, but it was growing in significance.  It was also expanding.  In the early 1930s, for the first time, Pope Field grew out of its initial 1918-1919 layout with the construction of two new hangars, various administrative buildings, a new barracks and a series of officers' quarters.  In 1933-1934, Pope went through the first of its three major periods of expansion (Drucker and Jackson 1987b).

The expansion of Pope Air Force Base in the 1930s was part of a national response to the Great Depression.  The expansion was not the result of New Deal legislation but rather had its origin in a Congressional attempt to cope with the economy during the last days of the Hoover administration.  This expansion was carried out under the auspices of the Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932 (Title III, Section 301).  The act provided for $300 million to be spent around the country for public construction.  Pope Field received a fraction of that sum for new hangars, a dispensary, a fire station, a new barracks (now Fleming Hall, Building 306), and 21 housing units generally designated officer's living quarters (Drucker and Jackson 1987a; Junior Service League 1970). 

The most impressive of the new construction were the new buildings designed to house aircraft.  Of those, only the Double Hangar, now referred to as Building 708 (Hangars 4 and 5) remains today (Fig. 3.24).  Built in the area of the original four wooden hangars, the Double Hangar replaced at least one of the original structures, and was somewhat set back from the line formed by the remaining hangars (Fig. 3.25). 

The surviving plans for Building 708 include the electrical layout, door details, ceiling and roof details, foundation plans, section details, and floor plans.  Most of these plans were drawn up and dated to August 1933, with a few auxiliary plans dated to October of the same year.  Construction of the double hangar began in 1934 and was completed in November of that year.  The total cost of construction was pegged at $175,590.97 (Pope Field 1934-1942). 

Even though the Double Hangar or Building 708 is the only aircraft building at Pope to survive from this period, it was not the only one constructed.  In 1934, a balloon hangar was shipped from California and constructed on Pope to house a weather and observation dirigible (Fig. 3.26).  Assembled in the area north of Fleming Hall, this balloon hangar was dismantled in the 1950s (Fig. 3.27). 

In addition to hangars for aircraft, money was also appropriated for new cantonment buildings in the area of the old Aero Squadron encampment.  This area, constructed in 1918-1919, was located immediately east of what is now Reilly Street.  Originally a part of the re-routed Monroe Road, this segment of street has been in existence since the early days of Pope Field.  The Aero Squadron area was probably bounded on the west by Maynard Street, even though that road did not exist as such in the early days.  The 1930s cantonment buildings were constructed around the old Aero Squadron rectangle, bounding it in an irregular fashion on the north, east and south sides.  Most of the new buildings reflected a Georgian classical style and were placed in a park-like setting that conformed to civilian landscaping standards (Drucker 1985:4; Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.3).  The new administrative buildings and the barracks (Fleming Hall) were

Fig. 3.24.  Hangars 4 and 5, Building 708

Fig. 3.24 (con’t).  Hangars 4 and 5, Building 708

Fig. 3.25.  Pope Field Hangars Identified by Checkerboard Roofs, ca. 1940

Fig. 3.26.  Balloon Hangar at Pope Field, ca. 1936

Fig. 3.27.  Fleming Hall with Balloon Hangar in Background, undated 

arranged in a straight northwest-southeast line, on the north side of the old Aero Squadron complex.  The officers' housing units were laid out in two semi-circular patterns east and south of the complex. 

The northernmost of the 1930s administrative buildings was the Old Fire Station, now identified as Building 300 (Fig. 3.28).  Originally built to house two fire engines, this one-story structure was completed on November 5, 1934 at a cost of $6,690.  Immediately southeast of the fire station was the Dispensary, now known as the Old Medical Dispensary or Building 302 (Fig. 3.29).  This building, originally constructed as a medical dispensary and flight surgeon's clinic, was erected in 1934 at a cost of $21,100.  

Located further to the southeast on the same line was the barracks building, now known as Building 306 or Fleming Hall (Fig. 3.30).  Completed almost a year after the fire station and the dispensary, the barracks building was begun in 1933 in a full-blown Georgian Revival style that was common throughout the Atlantic Seaboard during the 1930s (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.3).  This three-story building was originally designated the "Air Corps Barracks" and was completed on November 17, 1933 at a cost of $92,420.16.  The earliest diagram of the barracks is dated to February 7, 1931 (though most are dated a year later), making them the earliest plans for any extant building on Pope Air Force Base.  Both as planned and as built, the building was designed to hold a total of 163 men (Pope Field 1931; 1933-1937).   Additions were made to the Air Corps Barracks building almost immediately upon completion.  In 1933, refrigerators, ovens, and a dishwasher were added to complete the kitchen facilities.  Cookers and toasters were added in 1937 (Pope Field 1933-1937).  At some point during World War II or shortly after, the men were moved into temporary housing and the building was made over into the base headquarters (Drucker 1985:4).  It was probably at this time that the building was named "Fleming Hall," for Sergeant Walter W. Fleming, who was killed with Harley Pope in January of 1919 (Junior Service League 1970). 

Located almost immediately southeast and south of Fleming Hall are two sets of officers' housing units, now identified as Buildings 202-218 and 322-344, even numbers only.  With the exception of Buildings 342 and 344, these 21 family housing units were arranged in two semi-circular patterns.  The group adjacent to Fleming Hall, comprised of Buildings 322-344 were built in 1934, and consist of one-story residences (Fig. 3.31).  

The southern-most group (Buildings 202-218) consisted of nine two-story residences set aside for officers (Fig. 3.32).  According to the completion reports for Buildings 181 and 182 (modern designations, Buildings 202 and 204), these residences were completed on September 22, 1933, at a cost of just over $10,000 each.  Building 202 was constructed as a Field Officers' Quarters, while Building 204 was designated a Company Officer's Quarters (Pope Field 1933-1942).  By 1942, all residences within this group were identified as "Officers Quarters" without further distinction (Pope Field 1942).  Various two- and five-car garages, located behind the residences, were built at the same time (Fig. 3.33). 

Fig. 3.28.  Two Views of Fire Station, Building 300

Fig. 3.29.  Two Views of Medical Dispensary 

Fig. 3.30.  Two Views of Fleming Hall

Fig. 3.31.  Two Views of Married Officer’s Quarters

Fig. 3.32.  Two Views of Non-Commissioned Officer’s Quarters

Fig. 3.33.  Two Views of Five-Car Garage

The 21 residential buildings constructed at Pope in 1933-1934 were similar to others constructed by the Army in other areas during this same period.  In fact, there have been at least three recognizable periods in the construction of Army housing since the Civil War, and the construction on Pope was part of the third period, generally associated with the 1920s and 1930s.  These periods have come to light in the wake of at least two studies of Army domestic architecture.  Although these studies operate at the level of trends, they place the expansion of Pope Field within its national and even regional context. 

The first of the two works is entitled "A Study of U.S. Army Family Housing Standardized Plans," compiled by Bethanie Grashof (1986).  After a thorough search of military archives, Grashof discerned three periods of standardization in Army family quarters:  1) c.1866-1890; 2) 1890-1917; and 3) 1917-1940.  These periods are discussed below. 

In the wake of the Civil War, Federal military authorities recognized the need for minimum housing requirements for both troops and officers.  This led to the first period of standardization, which crystallized around plans drawn up under the direction of Quartermaster General Montgomery C. Meigs and issued in 1872.  These early plans standardized commanding officers' quarters, and provided a double set of quarters for two company officers and their families.  The latter became known as "double houses" and featured the use of an attic story.  They could also be altered to use as quarters for line officers.  These plans became known as "Meigs Standard Plans" (Grashof 1986:14-15). 

The second period of standardization was almost a period of no standardization.  Between 1890 and 1917, many different designs were drawn up, and the range was quite diverse.  In part, this was in response to changes made in the Army itself as the American frontier was officially declared settled and the country embarked on the Spanish-American War of 1898 (Grashof 1986:I.29-40). 

The third period of standardized housing (1917-1940) featured the bungalow, a one-story, single family house, and a preference for sun porches (Grashof 1986:41-57).  Most of these plans were constructed by the Army's two engineering agencies, the Quartermaster Corps and the Corps of Engineers.  It was not until the 1940s that they were both merged into the Army Corps of Engineers (Grashof 1986:1, 57).   

The second of these Army housing reports was actually prepared by the Department of the Army and was more detailed (Department of the Army 1989).  It divided housing construction into four periods, rather than three.  The first period, pre-Civil War, is of little interest to this study, but the final three generally correspond to Grashof's periods:  1) 1870-1901; 2) 1901-1917; and 3) 1926-1939, which directly relates to the buildings at Pope AFB. 

Following World War I and throughout most of the 1920s, there was a severe cut-back of funds for the military.  By the time the Army embarked on a new program of housing construction in the late 1920s, plans and procedures had changed greatly.  The period of 1926-1939 was one of greater standardization of both designs and materials, more compact housing (more "modern"), and borrowings from architectural styles like Colonial Revival and Spanish Colonial.  This period also saw the use of more outside consultants in the preparation and construction of buildings (Department of the Army 1989:11).  The buildings on Pope certainly seem to fit into this period with few qualifications. 

At some point in the mid-1930s, either during or shortly after the construction of the new administrative buildings and residential quarters, the old Aero Squadron cantonment itself was demolished.  The old cantonment had served as the center around which the 1930s permanent buildings were constructed.  By 1935, however, the area between Reilly and Maynard Streets was void of buildings (Utilities Plan, Area 1, 1935).  Replacing the old Aero Squadron cantonment was a new series of buildings behind (north of) Fleming Hall, on the northwest side of Virgin Street.  All of these buildings were designated temporary structures, and included 9 barracks, 2 mess halls, and at least 6 auxiliary buildings.  These new temporary buildings were in place by the summer of 1935, when a new utilities plan was drawn up for Pope Field (Utilities Plan, Area 3, 1935) (Fig, 3.34). 

World War II, 1941-1945  Even though Pope Field expanded during the 1930s, the growth was not extraordinary.  Construction was still limited to the two areas of development established in 1918-1919:  the hangars on the north side of the air field, and the Aero Squadron cantonment area east of the air field.  All this would change with the against Imperial Japan and Nazi Germany, the stakes were considerably higher than they were in the First World War, and the national war effort was a total commitment of personnel and economic resources.  The lingering effects of the Great Depression were finally erased by the production of war material and full employment. Both Fort Bragg and Pope Field grew exponentially as a result of the war.  In 1940, Bragg had a population of less than 5,000; by 1942, the number was almost 100,000 (Parker 1984:158).  At its war-time peak, Bragg was home to 159,000 troops, and by the end of the war almost one million troops passed through the installation (Fort Bragg c.1967:98).  Training was also expanded from artillery and its support facilities, to airborne units that could take advantage of the increased power and range of aircraft in the 1940s.  The 9th Infantry Division, the 2nd Armored Division, 82nd Airborne Division, the 100th Infantry Division, the 13th, 22nd, and 34th Artillery Brigades, and the field artillery groups of the 13th, 22nd, and 32nd Corps spent time at Bragg (Fort Bragg c.1967:97).  Almost 3,000 new buildings, most of them temporary structures, had to be constructed to house these units and provide training facilities (O'Steen 1992:6). 

As Fort Bragg grew, so did Pope Field.  In fact, the air field went through a tremendous period of growth as a result of the war.  It became one of the top troop carrier training areas for the Army, with air and ground crews working with Army airborne units.  In 1941, Pope was the site of the Army's first mass paratroop drop, with more than 500 paratroopers, witnessed by Generals Marshall, McNair, and Clark.  The First Troop Carrier Command was established at Pope in October of 1942.  The 317th Tactical Airlift Wing, trained at Pope, was one of the first troop carrier units formed, and later served in the Pacific theater (U.S. Air Force 1989:482-483; Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.1). Pope

Fig. 3.34.  Temporary Cantonment Area Constructed North of Fleming Hall, ca. 1935

Field also played a more direct role in the war.  Planes based out of Pope patrolled the Atlantic coast during the crucial year of 1942, when German submarines almost crippled the United States merchant marine.  In February of that year, a squadron of A-20s based out of Pope sank a German U-Boat off the North Carolina coast, believed to be the first submarine destroyed from the air (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.1). 

To accommodate this extra work load, the landing field at Pope was improved and expanded.  The original grass field was replaced by a series of paved runways, taxiways, and ramps.  By the end of the war, Pope Field had three intersecting runways, all located south of the hangar area (Fig. 3.35).  It was probably by this point, if not before, that Tank Creek was re-routed to the east to make way for the expanded air strip (Ehrenhard 1984:1). 

Along with the expanded air strip, there was an enormous increase in the number of new structures.  The hangar area was still in the same location, although it is likely that the original hangars were replaced by the end of the war.  The focus of this area was still the Double Hangar, constructed in 1934.  There were three other smaller hangars and at least 25 auxiliary structures and a utility yard (Fig. 3.36). 

The 1933-1934 buildings, located on the margins of Aero Squadron, now formed the core of the expanded World War II cantonment area.  The cluster of temporary buildings constructed around 1935 on the northwest side of Virgin Street, formed the core of a temporary encampment situated on the north side of Fleming Hall.  A much larger cantonment area was situated to the south and southwest.  The vast majority of these new buildings were designated temporary constructions.  In fact, out of the 244 buildings at Pope Field in 1942, 204 were temporary structures, most built for the war effort.  The other 40 buildings were permanent structures and the vast majority of these were built during the 1930s.  Foremost among this group of permanent buildings are the ones presently listed on the National Register.  In 1942, these buildings were identified in the following manner (Pope Field 1942): 

• Building 599, Operations Hangar (1934 Double Hangar; now Building 708)

• Building 597, Fire House (now Building 300)

• Building 596, Dispensary (now Building 302)

• Building 381, 200-Man Barrack, Mess (Fleming Hall)

• Buildings 281-292, NCO Quarters (now Buildings 322-344, even numbers only)

• Buildings 181-189, Officers' Quarters (now Buildings 202-218, even numbers only)

• Garages associated with Quarters 

Most of the other buildings were designated temporary structures and were improved versions of the mobilization buildings erected during World War I.  In fact, there was a very clear carry-over in design from one war to the other.  The Series 600 from the first war led to another set of building plans that were first drawn up in 1917.  Modified throughout the 1920s and 1930s, a complete set of the new plans was finalized between 1937 and 1940.  Known as Series 700, these new plans formed the basis of Army cantonment construction in 1940 and 1941 (Garner 1993:33-35). 

Fig. 3.35.  Landing Strip, Pope Field, 1942

Fig. 3.36.  World War II Cantonment, 1942

Series 700 buildings improved upon Series 600 in a number of ways.  Unlike the World War I buildings, they were usually painted.  The exterior walls had ivory-colored enamel paint, while the doors were painted gray.  Plank frame construction was totally abandoned in favor of stud construction.  Concrete piers and footings replaced treated timber posts as building supports.  Series 700 buildings were also equipped with plumbing and electricity, as well as forced-air heating (Garner 1993:33-35, 40). 

Perhaps the most conspicuous feature of the Series 700 was the skirt roof that projected beyond the walls to protect the windows.  These were constructed on both the first and second floors of each building.  Officially known as "aquamedia," these skirt roofs were also called canopies or eyebrows.  This distinctive feature was dropped from the next series of plans, the Series 800, which was brought out in 1941 and used in mobilization construction in 1941 and 1942 (Garner 1993:19, 41). 

By the time the war ended, the cantonment area of Pope Field was four times the size of the pre-war encampment and the airstrip had been increased in size to handle the new airborne capability of Fort Bragg.  And this was just the beginning.  In the years to follow, the physical facilities at Pope would be expanded yet again to meet the challenge of confrontation with the Soviet Union and its client states, a "cold war" that lasted from the late 1940s to the collapse of Soviet Communism in the late 1980s. 

Pope Air Force Base, Reorganization, and the Cold War, 1946-1989  The expansion of the air service during the World War II was phenomenal.  By the end of the war, developments in aviation and rocketry made it imperative that the Army's air force be unified as a separate branch of military service, on par with the more traditional Army and Navy.  To that end, the Air Force was made a separate branch of the service in September of 1947, when the War Department was reorganized into the Department of Defense.  In January of 1948, Pope Field, a subset of Fort Bragg since its inception, was designated an air force base in its own right (Junior Service League 1970; U.S. Air Force 1989:479). 

Even though Pope Air Force Base officially became an entity separate from Fort Bragg in 1948, the ties that long bound the two remained in force and continue to this day.  Even though some of the real estate tracts on Pope Air Force Base were permitted lands received from Fort Bragg in 1953, most of Pope Air Force Base is situated on lands that still belong to Fort Bragg, granted to the Air Force through an indefinite permit (Pope Air Force Base c.1994).  Even today, land ownership patterns reflect Pope's long affiliation with the Army.

This period was also one of reorganization, both at the national level and at Pope.  A number of different commands were assigned to Pope in the late 1940s.  In April of 1945, it was the Continental Air Forces, redesignated in March of the following year as the Strategic Air Command.  The very next month, the Tactical Air Command was assigned to Pope, followed by the Continental Air Command two years later (U.S. Air Force 1989:482-483). 

During this period, Pope continued to support Fort Bragg operations, primarily the 82nd Airborne Division.  Between 1946 and 1950, the more than 15,000 officers and men of the 82nd comprised the only large unit of troops stationed at Bragg (Fort Bragg c.1967:115).  During the 1950s, these troops were joined by other airborne divisions, the Psychological Warfare Center, Special Forces, and the XVIII Airborne Corps.  In 1952, Bragg established its own airfield (later named the Simmons Army Airfield), to relieve some of the pressure on Pope (O'Steen 1992:6; Fort Bragg c.1967:124-125). 

As Bragg expanded its range of operations in the 1950s, Pope followed suit.  In October of 1954, the 464th Troop Carrier Wing was assigned to Pope Air Force Base.  Four years later, the Wing switched from C-119s to the larger C-128s and C-129s.  This began the latest expansion of the installation facilities, which began in earnest in the 1960s (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.2). 

It was during this period that Pope Air Force Base expanded its landing field, scrapping the three intersecting runways built during World War II in favor of one long southwest-northeast runway that now separated the hangar area from the cantonment.  The new runway, approved in the summer of 1956, cut across the Monroe/Reilly Road, which had been realigned in 1918-1919 to make room for the first air field.  The new Reilly Road (later Reilly Street) was again re-routed to the north around the new runway, as was Tank Creek (Basic Mission Plan, 2nd Phase 1956). 

The Pope Field Dirigible Hangar was also dismantled.  Originally erected on the installation in 1934, the hangar appears to have been converted into a 916-man barracks and mess hall during World War II, assuming it is the same as Building 600 in the 1942 plan of Pope Field (Pope Field 1942).  In 1956, the structure was damaged by a tornado, and was dismantled two years later.  The usable elements were shipped to the Naval Air Station at Lakehurst, New Jersey. 

Pope Air Force Base began to take a more active role in the Cold War during the 1960s, especially as that conflict began to expand into the Vietnam War.  During the Cuban Missile Crisis of 1962, troops and supplies were airlifted from Pope to potential front-line stations in Florida.  The following year, the 464th Troop Carrier Wing was increased in strength with the introduction of the first Lockheed C-130 "Hercules" aircraft, which made it possible to move U.S. paratroopers quickly to almost any location in the world.  This capability would be put to the test in the years that followed, as airlifts from Pope flew to Africa in 1964, the Dominican Republic and Puerto Rico in 1965, Korea and Cambodia in 1968, and Europe in 1970.  Throughout the 1960s, the 464th provided assistance to the air force of South Vietnam (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.2). 

In 1971, near the end of the Vietnam War, the 464th Tactical Air Wing was de-activated and replaced by the 317th Tactical Air Wing.  The 317th tested the "Adverse Weather Aerial Delivery System" (AWADS) that was designed to permit accurate airdrops at night and under cloud cover.  Four years later, the USAF Airlift Center was established at Pope for testing of new equipment and tactics for airborne troops (Drucker and Jackson 1987a:8.2). 

All of this activity contributed to the third and last wave of construction on Pope Air Force Base, which began in the late 1950s with work on the air strip, and was completed in the 1960s and early 1970s when most of the temporary World War II structures were replaced with permanent buildings.  In 1964, some 280 new single-family housing units were constructed, and by the end of the decade, there was a new airman's dormitory (U.S. Air Force 1989:482).  Even today, it is estimated that 70 percent of all buildings now standing on Pope Air Force Base, were constructed during this period of heightened Cold War and Vietnam War activity (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers n.d.). 

By the 1970s, most of the terrain at Pope Air Force Base was either under concrete runways or was seriously modified by cantonment construction and landscaping.  The only areas that had been spared extensive reworking were the buffer zones needed for the north and south approaches to the runway, the golf course, and a few isolated areas along the periphery of the base (Ehrenhard 1984:1). 

In the late 1980s, Fort Bragg began its first major territorial expansion since its inception in 1918.  Known as the Northern Training Area, this section of Fort Bragg now extends into Harnett County, on the north side of the Lower Little River, immediately upstream from Pope Air Force Base.  The Vass Road (New) Munitions Storage Area was constructed in the Northern Training Area, and the MSA was permitted to the Air Force.  Fort Bragg also acquired the Overhills area in January 1997, a former rural resort.
3.2.2.3  Building Materials, Construction Methods, and Architecture 

In the 1970s, to ensure that new construction and rehabilitation would be more focused on architectural compatibility throughout the base and would complement the existing architecture within the old main base (now the Pope Field Historic District), planners and architects developed standards and guidelines for consistency in design, color, and style.  Currently, all additions, deletions, or changes to existing facility exteriors or landscaping require prior review and approval by the Base Civil Engineer’s Architectural Compatibility Review Board (USAF 1995a).  A discussion of the building materials, construction methods and architecture both within and outside the District follows.  Lists of approved landscaping items and screening techniques can be found in the Pope Air Force Base Architectural Compatibility Guide, draft  (USAF 1998) or can be obtained through base Civil Engineering, the base architect, or the base CRM.

Pre-1947 Construction  The homes and garages associated with the Old Family Housing units at Pope AFB were built between 1933 and 1934, during a period of initial economic recovery from the Great Depression.  Of a total of $300 million appropriated by Congress under the Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932, $224,000 was spent at Pope Field to construct officers’ housing.  The Pope AFB Old Family Housing units display an early twentieth century application of Federal neo-classical construction designs and floor plans, adapted to the Atlantic seaboard environment and usage.  In 1991 this portion of Pope AFB was officially entered in the National Register of Historic Places as the Pope Field Historic District.  Although the homes and garages in the Old Family Housing units have undergone architectural modification during the past 50 years, including replacement of the original spanish tile roofs with asphalt shingles and later with barrel mission tiles, they still retain the core architectural and engineering components which define the basic elements of primary architectural styles and features associated with the Historic District:  

· Hollow tile masonry walls

· Painted stucco exteriors

· Reinforced concrete foundations

Historic Building Materials and Substitutes used within the District   To ensure compatibility in the appearance of the District, the following historic exterior building materials and substitute materials are used at Pope AFB:

· Stucco that matches existing color, texture and finish for building renovations 

· Use beige colored brick for new construction 

· Provide precast concrete with the same color as adjacent materials

· Maintain original roof pitch.

Use formal type landscaping for administration buildings and informal landscaping for residential buildings.

Post-1947 Construction  According to the draft Pope Air Force Base Architectural and Land-Use Standards, (1998), modern Pope AFB is divided into four broad areas:  

· Core Zone (Entrance area, Historic District, Administrative and Support area, and Airmen community Center)  

· Housing Area for personnel stationed at Pope AFB on east side of Armistead Street near the Armistead Grate.   

· Recreation Area made up of athletic fields, running track and two buildings  (bowling center and fitness centers)

· Industrial/Flight line facilities including hangars for the A-10 and C-130 Aircraft of the composite wing at Pope AFB.  Other facilities include storage buildings, flight stimulators, training facilities and civil engineering facilities. 

Pope AFB Building Materials  To achieve compatibility in the appearance of the installation, the following exterior building materials are currently used for modern construction at Pope AFB:

· Light gray US brick, Richtex, style #761, type FBS grade SW for entryway, administrative, housing, and recreation areas. 

· Beige colored split-face block with dark red split-face block for accent strips for industrial/flight line buildings. 

· For additions or renovations to existing structures new construction shall match color and texture of existing facades.

· Sloping asphalt shingle roofs in Steel Gray for housing.

· Sloping standing seam metal roofs with a pitch of 3:12 in Stratford Brown for entry, administration, and recreation areas.  

· Aluminum bronze medium finish anodized or fluorocarbon coating windows and doors.

· 2-pc. straight barrel mission tile (Spanish, natural red)

 TC "3.3  LITERATURE REVIEW AND CULTURAL RESOURCES SURVEYS "

tc "3.2  LITERATURE REVIEW AND CULTURAL RESOURCES SURVEYS "3.3  LITERATURE REVIEW AND CULTURAL RESOURCES SURVEYS  The available sources for the history and archeology of Pope AFB, along with a few of the more important regional works, are listed in Attachment 6.1 along with national and local repositories and historic properties located in the vicinity of the base.  Various archeological studies have been conducted in the vicinity of Pope AFB since the 1980s, including several on the base itself.  Archeological investigations in Cumberland County are summarized in Table 3.4, and are detailed in Section 3.3.1.  

3.3.1  Cultural Resources Studies in the Vicinity of Pope AFB  Much of the work in Cumberland County over the last 20 years has been compliance related although other work has been undertaken as a result of research on specific sites or topics (Table 3.4).  

Within the last two decades a great deal of interest has been placed on predictive modeling concerning site location and site probability (Hay et al. 1982; Robertson and Robertson 1978; Lewis 1985).  The ability to predict the locations and density of archeological sites has obvious merits as a planning tool for cultural resource management studies.  Likewise, the testing and validation of predictive models has tremendous value to the process of assessing the present nature and distribution of sites within the landscape so that attempts at interpretations concerning settlement patterns and inference regarding behavior can be made possible using relatively unbiased data.

Table 3.4.  Archeological Research in Cumberland County

Project Area
Report Citation

Bridge #20 Lower Little River 
Lautzenheiser 1986

Camp MacKall 
Loftfield 1979a

Cumberland County
Davis and Ward 1986; Gossett and Gossett 1976b; Robinson 1986 

Fayetteville CBD Loop
McLean and Sellon 1979

Fayetteville Municipal Airport
Ward 1977

Fort Bragg 
Braley 1988a, 1988b, 1990; Jones and Roberts 1993; Loftfield 1979a; McCullough 1985

Lee Borrow Pit 
Hammond and Hargrove 1981

McFayden Mound
South 1966

McLean Mound
MacCord 1966

NC24 from Interstate 95 to Interstate 40 
Cable 1992; Cable and Reed 1990

NC87 
Hargrove 1990

Overhills Tract
Benson 1997

Owen Drive Extension
Robinson 1994

Pope Air Force Base 
Ehrenhard 1984; Jones and Roberts 1993

Simmons Army Airfield 
Loftfield 1979a

Spring Lake
Abbott et al. 1992; Abbott 1994; Braley and Schuldenrein 1993; Gossett and Gossett 1976a; Ward and Simpkins 1981

Whitehurst tract, Moore County 
King 1992

Research conducted in and around Fort Bragg is particularly relevant to Pope AFB.  Most of these studies provide useful information regarding site location probability, prehistoric settlement patterns, site formation processes, and temporal land use within the general area.  Loftfield (1979a) surveyed approximately 16,500 acres within Fort Bragg recording 490 sites, several of which are located near Pope AFB.  He noted an association between sources of water and site distribution and cited topographic situation, soil composition, distance to water, and elevation above water as useful secondary variables.  According to Loftfield, prehistoric sites were most frequently located on hilltops, toe slopes, upland flats and saddles in association with first order streams and springs on sandy soils with a north, northeastern or easterly aspect.  High site probability areas were inferred for much of Fort Bragg.  The margins of first order streams were also suggested as high site probability areas.  Loftfield estimated an average site density of 1.6 sites per hectare. 

Braley (1988b) tested Loftfield's model during a survey within Fort Bragg and the resultant data was used to develop a historic preservation plan (Braley 1990).  According to Braley, the model was found to be useful and should be considered when large tracts of land are to be developed.  Braley recorded twice the sites predicted by Loftfield's model, attributing the increased site density to the wider range of landforms he surveyed as compared to the narrow transects prescribed by the location of firebreaks used by Loftfield.  ". . . [S]ite density depends on whether a tract is located along the terraces of major drainages or in upland areas.  Overall, site density is slightly higher in the lowland settings" (1990:22).  Braley points out that the site location model is applicable only to prehistoric resources because historic site locations are dependent on separate sets of variables such as proximity to road systems and highly productive soils (1990:23). 

Robinson (1986) recorded 60 sites in a 500 acres survey of selected areas of Cumberland County.  His work documented the abundance of archeological resources within the county and the wide range of components represented.  He also noted that the area around Fort Bragg and Pope AFB held high potential for the presence of archeological sites.  This area was considered critical in regards to cultural resource assessment due to the extensive nature of land development. 

The Spring Lake Project involved a sample survey of 1,955 acres (Abbott 1994).  The 551 acres surveyed were distributed among three topographical zones:  stream valleys, dissected uplands, and watershed divides.  Fifty-one sites were assessed as part of the project, a site density of 1 site/11.03 acres.  Archeological resources appear to be fairly evenly distributed.  The broad expectations for the settlement patterns in the project area are for small base camps supported by even smaller, more ephemeral, extraction sites that represent a subsistence strategy based on a focal/diffuse lifestyle (Sassaman 1991).  This pattern appears to begin in the Middle Archaic and continues until horticulture developed and the system changed due to adequate food storage (presumably during the Late Woodland).

The site density estimates of the Spring Lake Project exceeded those of most other projects in the general area (Table 3.5).  A notable exception is Robinson's data (1986).  Most of the survey areas incorporated into Robinson's work were located close to the main channel of the Cape Fear River.  This close proximity to the major watercourse of the area may account for his success in locating sites and serves to emphasize the relatively high site density across Cumberland County in general.

The Spring Lake Project also provided information regarding site transformation processes within the general area and the implications for archeological survey and site location techniques.  Shovel testing produced significant results whereas others thought that emphasis should be placed on cultivated fields and open areas (Loftfield 1979a:40; Braley 1988a, 1988b).  Only 12.5 percent of the area sampled for the Spring Lake Project was contained within plowed fields.  The recovery rate within these areas was high, however, surface visibility within open areas across the balance of the study area was deceiving.  Many of the sites were located in shovel tests at depths of 30 to >70 centimeters below the ground surface in areas where ground surface visibility was available.  In most of these areas, no artifacts were present on the ground surface.  

Table 3.5.  Site Density Estimates

Project
Density (site/acre)

Gossett and Gossett (1976a)
1/40.0

Loftfield (1979a)
1/33.67

Ward and Simpkins (1981)
1/18.0

Robinson (1986)
1/8.33

Braley (1988a)
1/27.73

Braley (1988b)
1/15.56

King (1992)
1/16.10

Jones and Roberts (1992)
1/64.0

Cable (1992)
1/13.44

Abbott (1994)
1/11.03

Benson (1997)
1/24.5

The variable depths of these sites may result from bioturbation and other natural depositional processes active within the sandhills area, although, Robinson (1994:7-9) suspects that aeolian deposits account for the phenomena on other sites in the area.  Robinson's observations are supported by the work of others on similar sites in similar settings (Braley and Schuldenrein 1993; Gunn and Wilson 1993).  The underlying implication for site location techniques within Pope AFB is that shovel testing is imperative for the recovery of archeological (especially prehistoric) sites.  This notion must be extended also to the depths to which shovel tests are dug.  Many positive shovel tests at Spring Lake produced artifacts beginning at 50 centimeters below ground surface within yellow, medium to fine sand.  This phenomenon may explain  the lack of sites discovered by Ehrenhard (1984) at Pope AFB. 

The Overhills Tract survey on Fort Bragg provided important site density and distribution data.  This survey covered over 10,000 acres; including areas adjacent to Pope AFB.  These areas were characterized primarily by heavily bisected ridges and flat uplands.   This survey recorded 426 sites and 231 isolated finds.  This yields an average of 1 site per 24.5 acres, which is lower than was found in the Spring Lake survey (Benson 1997).  

The results of previous work show that any future archeological survey at Pope AFB consider the significance of these results and insure that all shovel tests are excavated to subsoil (generally a brown coarse grain sand between 60 and 90 centimeters below surface).  Any future survey work should extensively utilize shovel tests across project areas and not depend on surface visibility alone as a sole indicator of site location.  Shovel tests also should be dug at regular transect intervals regardless of surface visibility and topographic location to insure the recovery of small, subsurface sites that have either moved vertically through the soft sandy soil zones or been covered by aeolian deposits.  The results of the Spring Lake Project suggest that low, swampy areas should not be ignored by surveyors.  Small, resource extraction sites were located directly adjacent to these areas.  In addition, very few areas in the Coastal Plain are flat, therefore, no areas should be avoided due to slope.  Small benches overlooking drainage heads or marshy areas were found to contain sites.  For the Coastal Plain, and any survey work within Pope AFB, the general rule of thumb is that all areas should be shovel tested.

Known Sites and Predictive Models of Site Location Computerized site files at the Office of State Archaeology in Raleigh show 164 previously recorded sites within the Manchester Quadrangle (USGS) and 602 sites within the Overhills Quadrangle.  Most of these sites are located within the boundaries of Fort Bragg (Pope AFB lies primarily within the boundaries of Fort Bragg).  Tables 3.6 to 3.9 provide descriptive details concerning identified sites included in the state computer database. Of the sites recorded within these quadrangles, the majority are located on toe slopes or ridge toes (37.3 percent), 1st Terraces (14.8 percent), and upland flats (14.2 percent; Table 3.6).  Although the percentages shown do not take into account the quantity of each landform surveyed, the table provides some measure of the likelihood that any given landform will contain sites.  In general, prehistoric sites would be considered likely on prominent landforms within 100 m of a permanent water source, and within 20 vertical feet of water (Braley 1990).  Historic period sites would be expected near water, or along historic roads. 

Table 3.6:  Topographic Variability of Sites

Landform
Count
Frequency

Cave
1
0.1%

Natural Levee
1
0.1%

Terrace Remnant on Floodplain
1
0.1%

Bluff
2
0.3%

Low Rise on Flood Plain
2
0.3%

Other
2
0.3%

Terrace Edge
2
0.3%

Floodplain
3
0.4%

Stream Confluence
10
1.4%

Saddle Between Ridge or Hill Tops
18
2.5%

Hill or Ridgetop
26
3.6%

3rd Terrace
31
4.2%

2nd Terrace
59
8.1%

Upland or Talus Slope
89
12.2%

Upland Flats
104
14.2%

1st Terrace
108
14.8%

Toe Slope or Ridge Toe
273
37.3%


732
100.0%


Data recorded for 727 of 766 total sites.



Source:  North Carolina Office of State Archaeology.

Table 3.7:  Soil Type Variability of Sites

Soil Type
Count
Frequency

Gravelly Loamy Sand, Sandy Loam
1
0.2%

Loam, Loamy Sand
1
0.2%

Loamy Sand, Loam
1
0.2%

Sandy Loam
2
0.4%

Fine Loamy Sand
6
1.3%

Gravelly Loamy Sand
6
1.3%

Urban Land
9
2.0%

Fine Sandy Loam
12
2.7%

Loam
17
3.8%

Sand
113
25.1%

Loamy Sand
283
62.7%

Total
451
100.0%



Data available for 451 of 726 total sites in Harnett, Cumberland, and Hoke Counties.


Source:  North Carolina Office of State Archaeology.

In terms of soil morphology, a majority of the sites (62.7 percent) are located on loamy sand (Table 3.7).  Most of the remaining sites are located on sand (25.1 percent).  The balance are distributed among a variety of loams.  This data was not recorded for all sites.

The sites recorded within the two quadrangles contain 833 cultural components (Table 3.8), with non-diagnostic lithic scatters making up the majority (63.0 percent).  Woodland components are recognized in 19.7 percent of all sites and Archaic components are noted in 10.1 percent.  Historic components comprise 1.2 percent of sites.

Site size was recorded for 570 sites within the two quadrangles.  Many of these sites are relatively small in areal extent as 45.1 percent of those recorded are 600 square meters or less (Table 3.9).  Only 5.6 percent of the sites are larger than 10,001 square meters.  The balance of sites range between 601 to 10,000 square meters in area.

The background research and previous work of others have resulted in the development of generalized expectations concerning the location of prehistoric archeological sites within the Pope AFB area.  The location of archeological sites within the study area should be expected in accordance with the variables described by Braley (1988, 1990) for Fort Bragg and Abbott (1994) for the Spring Lake project area.  One should expect a relatively high site density of 1 site/11.03 acres, suggesting that as many as 170 sites may have been located within the confines of Pope AFB prior to construction and land alteration.  This estimate is based on the total number of sites found per total acres surveyed in the region surrounding the base, and does not take landform variation into account.  Many of these sites should be nondiagnostic, low-density, upland lithic scatters located in sandy soils.  Most should be no greater than 600 square meters in area.  Some of the upland sites will be buried within yellow sands up to about 90 centimeters (cm) below ground surface.  Sites should be more frequent in areas surrounding drainages, no matter how small.  Sites can be expected adjacent to spring heads on small benches.  The possibility of encountering buried sites under post-settlement alluvium should be a major consideration around Tank Creek.  

Table 3.8:  Component Variability of Sites

Data
Count
Frequency

Paleo-Indian
2
0.2%

Late Paleoindian/Early Archaic
2
0.2%

Early Archaic
21
2.5%

Middle Archaic
33
4.0%

Late Archaic
24
2.9%

Archaic
6
0.7%

Early Woodland
12
1.4%

Middle Woodland
63
7.6%

Late Woodland
20
2.4%

Woodland
69
8.3%

Late Mississippian
1
0.1%

Undiagnostic Ceramic
45
5.4%

Undiagnostic Lithic
525
63.0%

Historic
5
0.6%

Historic Post Revolutionary -- 1776-1861
1
0.1%

Historic 20th Century
4
0.5%

Total
833
100.0%



Data recorded from 701 of 766 total sites.


Source:  North Carolina Office of State Archaeology.

Table 3.9:  Size Variability of Sites

Area (square meters)
Count
Frequency

1-10 
72
12.6%

11-25 
3
0.5%

26-100.
58
10.2%

101-600.
124
21.8%

601-5000 
228
40.0%

5001-10,000 
53
9.3%

10,001-25,000.
23
4.0%

25,001-50,000.
8
1.4%

> 50,000 
1
0.2%


570
100.0%

Data recorded for 570 of 766 total sites.


Source:  North Carolina Office of State Archaeology.

The predictive site location model above applies only to prehistoric sites.  Few historic sites are located in the general area (Braley 1990:22; Abbott 1994).  

The location of historic period sites was affected by other variables such as the proximity to the road system.  There are comparatively few historic sites on Fort Bragg, and a statistically elegant model would be of little value.  Land planners should study early twentieth century soil maps or land acquisition maps to pinpoint the location of historic house sites (Braley 1990:23). 

The paucity of historic sites other than those directly related to activities at Pope AFB and Fort Bragg is, in part, due to the poor soil.  The land was ill-suited for cotton production; lumber, turpentine, and naval stores were the local staples.  After the 1830s, much land in the area of Fort Bragg and Pope AFB came to be owned by families such as the McDiarmids and McCormicks (Clement et al. 1997).  The McCormicks were heavily involved in agriculture and the naval stores industry.  As a result, large tracts of land were tied up in cultivated fields and timber.  The control and specific use of the area over such a long period of time by one family group retarded development in the area until purchase of select portions of the original holdings by the federal government.  Much of the original McCormick land has remained relatively undeveloped, and is used for military training areas.  The majority of the historic sites expected should be tar kilns associated with the McCormick family navel stores industry (Meyer and Reed 1992; Abbott 1994).  

Review of historic maps of North Carolina and Cumberland and Harnett Counties did not show specific evidence of historic sites within the five survey areas, with the exception of an 1884 map that shows what may be a dwelling near the Old Munitions Storage Area (Mouzon 1775; Anon. 1782; U.S. Coast Survey 1865; D.G. McDuffie 1868, 1884; Kerr and Cain 1882; U.S. Corps of Engineers 1919; Boseman 1930; U.S. Corps of Engineers 1948).  McDuffie’s 1884 map of Cumberland shows a small rectangle labeled “Shaw” where Chicken Road crosses Bones Creek.  Roads in the vicinity of each of the parcels appear by 1865, but show no evidence for settlements along them, although the scale and detail of most of the historic maps available is such that nineteenth-century sites along the roads cannot be ruled out.
 TC "3.3.2  Cultural Resources Studies on Pope AFB "

tc "3.2.1  Base-Wide Reconnaissance "3.3.2  Cultural Resources Studies on Pope AFB  Various cultural resources studies have been conducted on Pope AFB in compliance with Section 106 and Section 110 of the NHPA.  Pope AFB completed its inventory of historic properties required under Section 110 of NHPA in 1999.  Table 3.10 contains a summary of investigations carried out on the base.  All of Pope AFB within its 1998 boundaries has been surveyed for archeological sites (Figures 3.37 and 38).  All of Pope’s buildings within its 1998 boundaries have been evaluated for eligibility for the NRHP.  

Table 3.10:  Cultural Resources Investigations on Pope AFB

Year
Author
Study Type
Results



1984
Ehrenhard
Section 110 Reconnaissance

of 1750 acres on Pope AFB
Letter Report states few areas have potential for sites; intensive reconnaissance on 12 areas found no sites; SHPO concured 19 Jul 84

1985


Drucker
Architectural Inventory of PreWorld War II buildings at Pope AFB
31 Buildings Recommended for NRHP nomination; 1 recommended as individually eligible; SHPO concurred 7 Jan 87.

1994
Jones and Roberts
Section 106 and 110 survey of 320 acre proposed A-10 Munitions tract and 20 acre Cumberland County School tract land acquisitions 
Two new sites and 2 new isolates identified; 1 old site revisited; recommended not eligible; SHPO concurred 10 Aug 93 

1994


Markham and Roberts
Phase I survey of 350 acre Bridge, Road, and Utilities Tract
Four sites and five isolates identified; recommended not eligible; SHPO concurred 30 Dec 93

1995
Hargrove
Section 106 and 110 survey of 100 acre proposed Laketree Housing tract land acquisition 
Two sites identified.  Recommended not eligible; SHPO concurred 3 May 95



1995


HQ ACC
Section 110 inventory of Cold War Material Cultural, Pope AFB
One building recommended as eligible(Building 306 -  USAF/TALC); already listed for World War II significance

1999
HQ AMC
Archaeological Survey of Pope AFB
One archeological site identified at  the Old Munitions Area, not eligible for the NRHP.

Fig. 3.37.  Archeological Surveys on Pope AFB 

Figure 3.38:  Location of Old Munitions Storage and Outer Marker Sites 

3.3.2.1   Base-Wide Reconnaissance  In May 84, John Ehrenhard of the National Park Service visited Pope AFB at the request of HQ Military Airlift Command, to perform a cultural resources reconnaissance and make recommendations on the need for further study.  Mr. Ehrenhard determined that, except for 12 discrete areas to the southwest side and northern periphery of the base, and the golf course, the then 1,750 acre base was a densely occupied urban - industrial area.  Mr. Ehrenhard did an intensive reconnaissance of the 12 areas with archeological potential and the golf course, and did not identify any archeological sites. In letter reports by Mr. Ehrenhard (20 Jun 84) and Mr. Husted (31 May 84), the National Park Service concluded that Pope AFB had little or no potential for intact archeological sites and did not need to perform further Section 110 survey.  Mr. Ehrenhard did recommend that several buildings on base may be eligible for the National Register and recommended further study of these, in consultation with the SHPO.  The SHPO concurred with the National Park Service findings on 6 Jul 84, and recommended further study of the buildings.  

tc "3.2.2  Reconnaissance Survey of Proposed 55-Acre Land Acquisition "3.3.2.2  Phase I Cultural Resources Survey, Proposed Munitions Storage Facility, and Cumberland County School Tract   In 1994, Brockington and Associates, Inc. conducted an archeological survey on Pope Air Force Base and at Fort Bragg Military Reservation, Cumberland County, North Carolina (Phase I Cultural Resources Survey, Proposed Munitions Storage Facility, Pope Air Force Base, and a Proposed Cumberland County School Tract, Fort Bragg Military Reservation, [Jones and Roberts 1994]).  The survey encompassed approximately 320 acres at the proposed location of the A-10 Munitions Storage Facility at Pope Air Force Base.  An additional 20 acres were surveyed at the proposed location of a Cumberland County School on the Fort Bragg Military Reservation.  Two archeological sites (31 CD 312 and 31 CD 313) and two isolated finds (31 CD 314 and 31 CD 315) were recorded on the A-10 Munitions Storage Facility tract at Pope Air Force Base.  A previously recorded site (31 CD 219) on the A-10 Munitions Storage tract was revisited.  No cultural resources were recorded on the Cumberland County School tract at Fort Bragg Military Reservation.  The three sites and the two isolated finds all were represented by quartz lithic scatters.  The three sites and the two isolated finds are recommended not eligible for the National Register of Historic Places. 

Site 31 CD 312  is located along a gentle slope in the upland portion of the A-10 Munitions Storage Facility Tract.  Site 31 CD 312 is a prehistoric site; two quartz flakes  were recovered from a single positive shovel test.  Four additional shovel tests were excavated in cardinal directions around the positive test.  All of these shovel tests were negative.  The site is recommended as not eligible for the National Register of Historic Places.  

Site  31 CD 313  is located in the flood plain portion of the A-10 Munitions Storage Facility Tract.  The site is approximately 300 m northeast of the Lower Little River.  Site 31 CD 313 is a prehistoric lithic scatter that measures approximately 15 m east-west by 7 m north-south.  Two quartz flakes were recovered from one positive shovel test.  Thirteen additional shovel tests, including two outside the project boundary, were excavated around the initial positive shovel test at 10 m intervals.  One contained 1 quartz flake; the remainder were negative.  The site is recommended as not eligible for the National Register of Historic Places. 

Site 31 CD 219 is also located in the upland portion of the A-10 Munitions Storage Facility Tract.  Site 31 CD 219 is situated approximately 125 m west of Site 31 CD 312 and towards the base of the ridge toe, along a dirt road.  This site is a prehistoric lithic scatter that measures approximately 60 m east-west by 20 m north-south.  Thirteen quartz flakes were recovered from this site but no intact midden was encountered.  The site is not recommended as eligible for the National Register of Historic Places.    

Isolates 31 CD 314 and 31 CD 315 are both single quartz flakes recovered from the upland portion of the A-10 Munitions Storage Facility Tract.  Four additional shovel tests on 10 m intervals were excavated around each of the isolates.  All of the additional tests were negative.  Both isolated finds are unlikely to add to the substantive or theoretical knowledge of the prehistory of the Sandhills region, and are recommended as not eligible for the National Register.

3.3.2.3  Phase I Cultural Resources Survey of the Bridge, Road, and Utilities Site  

Gulf Engineers & Consultants, Inc conducted an archeological survey (Phase I Cultural Resources Survey of the Bridge, Road, and Utilities Site for a Munitions Storage Area, Pope Air Force Base, North Carolina 1994 [Markham and Roberts 1994]) of the 350 acre Bridge, Road, and Utilities (BRU) Site, Pope Air Force Base, North Carolina.  The BRU site is located on a tract of land presently owned and managed by Fort Bragg Military Reservation.  

The project tract is bordered on the north by the Little River, and on the south by Manchester Road.  The project tract consists of flood plains of the Little River.  Low-lying wetland areas occur throughout the tract.  These wetlands have been created in part by the movement of armored vehicles through the project area.  Approximately 40 percent of the project area is designated as wetlands.  Over 50 percent of the project area showed evidence of extreme surface disturbance.  This may be a result of armored vehicle training exercises in the project area.  The entire survey tract was examined by the pedestrian traverse of transects spaced at 30 m intervals.  All surface exposures along each transect were inspected for cultural artifacts.  Shovel tests, measuring 30 cm by 30 cm, were excavated at 30 m intervals along each transect in areas where ground surface was obscured (less than 50 percent of the surface was exposed).  Shovel tests were excavated to apparent sterile subsoil, occasionally to depths greater than 70 cm below the ground surface.  Locations of discovered cultural material were examined through the excavation of 10 m interval shovel tests at cardinal directions.  Close interval shovel testing was not undertaken in areas with surface visibility greater than 90 percent; in this event, all visible surfaces were examined within a 15 m radius, and all identified or suspected cultural material was collected.  

The survey recorded four archeological sites and five isolated finds.  Three of the sites were identified as historic and one was identified as prehistoric.  Two of the isolated finds were identified as historic and three were identified as prehistoric.  All four sites and five isolates are recommended ineligible for the NRHP based on a lack of research potential.  This determination is due to low number of artifacts, little or no diagnostic material, and disturbed contexts of origin. 

Site 31 CD 367.  Site 31 CD 367 is a low density, prehistoric lithic scatter located in the southwest portion of the project tract.  Nine undiagnostic quartz flakes and one quartz core fragment were recovered from the surface of a graded dirt roadbed, in an area approximately 5 m by 5 m.  The small number of artifacts and the lack of other associated cultural deposits suggest 31 CD 367 can contribute no further information to the current understanding of the prehistoric use of the project tract and the site was recommended as ineligible for the National Register of Historic Places.  
Site 31 CD 368.  Site 31 CD 367 is a historic site located on a bluff above McPherson Creek.  Surface observations at the site noted two piles of brick rubble in the southwest corner of the site, and the base of a modern flush commode was observed 30 m away on the creek bank defining the northern boundary of the site.  The remains of an old roadbed following the edge of the creek cuts through the northern portion of the site and defines the eastern edge of the site.  This site was initially identified by glass recovered during 

30 m interval shovel tests.  Close interval shovel tests, placed at cardinal directions around the original positive shovel tests, recovered material from both the surface and subsurface.  Material recovered from the subsurface includes window glass fragments, container glass fragments, partial glass container, whiteware fragment, glass jar, bottle, brass gripper-snapper, brick fragments, and a metal fragment.  None indicates an occupation prior to the twentieth century.  This site is recommended as ineligible for the National Register of Historic Places.    

Site 31 CD 369  Site 31 CD 369 is a low density, historic artifact scatter situated on an eroded embankment in the northern and central portion of the project tract.  Four modern stoneware sherds and one unidentified chrome fragment were recovered from a disturbed surface area approximately 5 m by 5 m.  Close interval shovel tests around the surface find area did not recover any additional cultural material, and based on the disturbed nature of the site, and recent age of the artifacts, the site is not recommended as eligible for the National Register of Historic Places.  

Site 31 CD 370  Site 31 CD 370 is located in the south central portion of the project tract.   The site is characterized by a concrete slab, 5.5 m square, with seven associated concrete piers, and three cinder blocks.  A single shovel test was excavated 3 m west of the northwest corner of the concrete slab.  Site 31 CD 370 is believed to be associated with modern military training activities conducted during the past 50 years within the project area.  Site 31 CD 370 lacks artifact diversity or density necessary to generate additional information concerning past use and is recommended as ineligible for the National Register of Historic Places.  

Isolates 31 CD 371, 31 CD 372, 31 CD 373, 31 CD 374, and 31 CD 375   Isolated find 31 CD 371 is one prehistoric quartz flake that lacks any qualities or attributes that can contribute to understanding of prehistoric use in the project area and is recommended as not eligible for the National Register of Historic Places.  Isolated find 31 CD 372 is a single fragment of amethyst glass from the surface of a graded roadbed.  It also lacks qualities or attributes that can contribute to the understanding of historic use of the project area.  Isolated find 31 CD 373 is a prehistoric quartz shatter fragment recovered from the surface of a graded roadbed, near the center of the project tract.  This isolate lacks any qualities or attributes that can contribute to the understanding of prehistoric use in the project area and is recommended as ineligible for the National Register.  Isolated find 31 CD 374 is one prehistoric utilized quartz flake and one fragment of yellow bottle glass recovered from the surface of a graded roadbed, in the south central portion of the project area.  Close interval testing on both sides of the road and surface inspection of the roadbed surface north and south of the find recovered no cultural material.  This isolate lacks any qualities that can contribute to the understanding of prehistoric use in the project area and is recommended as ineligible for the National Register.  Isolated find 31 CD 375 is a fragment of brown glass bottle base recovered from the surface of a graded roadbed in the north central portion of the project area.  Brown bottle glass dates from the late nineteenth century to the present.  Close interval shovel tests on both sides of the road and surface inspection of the roadbed surface north and south of the find recovered no cultural material. This isolate lacks any qualities or attributes that can contribute to the understanding of historic use of the project area and is recommended as ineligible for the National Register.  

3.3.2.4  Archaeological Survey, Laketree   Thomas Hargrove (An Archaeological Survey of the Proposed Pope Air Force Base Military Family Housing Site at Laketree, Spring Lake, Cumberland County, North Carolina 1995) conducted an archeological survey of the Laketree military family housing development.  The survey, sponsored by Pope Air Force Base, covered approximately 100 acres in Spring Lake in Cumberland County, North Carolina.  The purpose of the survey was to examine the project area for prehistoric or historic archeological sites with significant remains that might be eligible for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places.  Since most of the project area is in longleaf pine forest, the survey relied heavily on screened shovel tests at intervals of 30 meters (100 feet) along parallel transects spaced 30 meters apart.  In areas with exposed ground surfaces (logging roads, powerline corridors, pinestraw harvesting areas, fireplow lanes, etc.), the surveyors closely examined all exposed areas for prehistoric and historic artifacts.

The survey recorded two sites:

31 CD 389 – a small prehistoric site, represented by three small sherds dating to the Woodland period; and 

31 CD 390 – a site with a minor prehistoric Woodland component, and low density, widely scattered remains of a nineteenth century  structure.

The prehistoric components at sites 31 CD 389 and 31 CD 390 are small, low density artifact scatters, apparently lacking integrity (for example, stratified deposits or intact, subsurface features).  Further intensive archeological research is not likely to yield important information on regional prehistory.  

The thinly scattered historic-period artifacts at 31 CD 390 indicate that the remains have been seriously disturbed and dispersed.  Further archeological research is not likely to yield important information on regional history.  Since neither site appears to be eligible for nomination for the National Register of Historic Places, we do not recommend additional archeological work on the tract. 

3.3.2.5  Archeological Survey of Pope AFB  Parsons Engineering Science (Parsons ES) performed an archeological assessment and survey of the remaining unsurveyed parcels of Pope AFB (Archaeological Survey of Pope AFB 1999).  Parsons identified 5 parcels of land owned by Pope AFB that had not been surveyed for archeological resources.  After consultation with the North Carolina State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO), Pope AFB determined that three of these parcels do not have sufficient archeological potential to merit intensive survey:  the 22-acre Localizer Site, transferred land east of Hurst Drive (5 acres), and the MARS Station.  The two remaining parcels were found to merit survey:  The 10-acre Old Munitions Storage Area and the 0.75-acre Outer Marker Site.  None of the parcels contained historic buildings.  The Munitions Storage Area and Outer Marker Site parcels were tested with 51 and 4 shovel tests respectively.  One test in the Munitions Storage Area contained three prehistoric pottery sherds.  This was recorded as Site 31CD797.  The Old Chicken Road MSA is pending transfer back to Fort Bragg.

Site 31CD797.   Site 31CD797 consisted of a single positive shovel test with three sherds of prehistoric pottery.  Close interval shovel tests around the find were negative.  The sherds are clay/grog tempered and fabric impressed.  While detailed ceramic studies specific to the Sandhills have not been done and ceramic analyses therefore rely on Piedmont and Coastal Plain typologies, researchers most frequently have considered the clay-tempered sherds in the Pope AFB/ Fort Bragg area as part of the Hanover series of the Wilmington ware-group (Clement et al. 1997).  The clay-tempered Hanover series was outlined by South (1973), based on his examination of sherds from South Carolina coastal sites.  The surface treatment of the series is predominately fabric-impressed, but cord-marked examples also are common.  Anderson (1975) found that in northern South Carolina, clay-tempered sherds were distributed from the fall line to the coast, and Anderson et al. (1982) proposed that the series dated to the Early/Middle Woodland period, ca. 500 B.C. to A.D. 1.  Phelps (1983) proposed a broader Middle Woodland date of ca. 300 B.C. to A.D. 800 for the Hanover series in North Carolina.

3.3.3  Inventory and Evaluation of Pre-1946 Properties  An inventory and evaluation of historic resources resources built prior to World War II was conducted by Carolina Archaeological Services in 1985 (Drucker 1985).  These buildings and structures were inventoried in accordance with guidance provided in Archeology and  Historic Preservation; Secretary of the Interior’s Standards and Guidelines and guidance provided in the North Carolina  Comprehensive Statewide Historic Preservation Plan. The report identified a historic district of 29 family houses, the original wing headquarters (Bldg. 306), the old fire station (Bldg. 300), and a former Medical Dispensary (Bldg. 302).  The original hangar (Bldg. 708) falls outside the district boundaries but was also recommended as eligible.  All of the buildings and structures (contributing  and non-contributing) within the Historic District are provided in Table 3.12 and shown in Fig. 3.39.  Attachment 6.3 (Fabric Survey Sheets) provides additional architectural information about the buildings and structures inventoried.  

Subsequent to the Drucker 1985 survey, 6 buildings turned fifty years of age.  Some but not all of these had been inventoried by Drucker.  Pope AFB provided detailed information on these buildings and a determination that they were not eligible for the national Register of Historic Places in a 8 May 98 letter to the SHPO.  The SHPO concurred with this finding on 5 Jun 98.  The 7 World War II buildings included in this consultation are: No. 191, No. 255, No. 275, No. 381, No. 619, and No. 711.    

3.3.4  National Register of Historic Places Registration Form  A NRHP Registration Form was completed by Leslie Drucker, Carolina Archaeological Services (1987) for the Pope Air Force Base Early Expansion Multiple Property Group.  The form was approved by the North Carolina SHPO in 1988 and the NPS in 1991.   Approval of this form formally entered the Pope Field Historic District in the NRHP.  The district and Hangars 4 and 5 (Bldg. 708), were nominated for national significance under Criterion A and C, for their architectural, engineering and military significance (see Section 3.4.2.1).

3.3.5  Cold War Survey  Buildings and structures younger than 50 years old can be eligible for the National Register if they are exceptionally significant.  In 1995, HQ ACC began a reconnaissance inventory of Cold War resources and related material culture at eight selected Air Force bases throughout the United States. The overall goal of the study was to comply with Section 110 of the NHPA and to provide cultural resources managers with a tool for determining the NRHP eligibility of Cold War- era properties.  Pope AFB was included in the survey and the results are presented in A Systematic Study of Air  Combat Command Cold War Material Culture, volume II-24: A Baseline Inventory of Cold War Material Culture at Pope Air Force Base (HQ ACC 1995).  This report serves as an expanded reconnaissance survey and baseline inventory of the installation's material culture from 1945-1989.  Based on identified Cold War-era missions at Pope AFB, 107  buildings and structures were evaluated for eligibility for inclusion in the NRHP.  Building 306 USAF TALC was recommended as eligible for the National Register. It was listed for eligibility under its pre-WWII contexts.  Its Cold War associations were identified after it was listed.  The SHPO has not yet concurred with the results of this study.
tc "3.3 Resource Inventory "3.4 RESOURCE INVENTORY
 TC " 3.4.1 Archeological Sites "

tc "3.3.1 Archaeological Sites "3.4.1 Archeological Sites  There are ten sites and seven isolates on Pope AFB.  None of these are eligible for the National Register of Historic Places.  Areas of cultural importance to Native American groups have not been identified.  Three of the archeological sites on Pope AFB are historic and 7 are prehistoric (Table 3.11).  The location of these sites can be found in Attachment 6.8. 

Table 3.11:  Historical and Prehistoric Archeological Sites on Pope AFB

Site Number
Site Type
Date
Eligibility for NRHP

31 CD 219
lithic scatter
Prehistoric 
Not Eligible

31 CD 312
lithic scatter
Prehistoric 
Not Eligible

31 CD 313
lithic scatter
Prehistoric 
Not Eligible

31 CD 367
lithic scatter
Prehistoric 
Not Eligible 

31 CD 389
lithic scatter
Prehistoric - Woodland 
Not Eligible

31 CD 390
lithic scatter
Prehistoric - Woodland - 20th
Not Eligible

31 CD 797
Ceramic Sherds
Prehistoric
Not Eligible

31 CD 368
Brick and other rubble
Twentieth Century
Not Eligible

31 CE 369
Modern artifact scatter
Twentieth Century 
Not Eligible 

31 CD 370
Military Training Site 
Twentieth Century 
Not Eligible 

· Site 31 CD 219 is a prehistoric lithic scatter.  The site is considered to be ineligible for the NRHP because it lacks integrity (Brockington and Associates 1994).

· Site 31 CD 312 is a prehistoric lithic scatter. The site is considered to be ineligible for the NRHP because it lacks integrity (Brockington and Associates 1994).

· Site 31 CD 313 is a prehistoric lithic scatter.  The site is considered to be ineligible for the NRHP because it lacks integrity (Brockington and Associates 1994).

· Site 31 CD 367 is a prehistoric lithic scatter.  The site is considered to be ineligible for inclusion on the NRHP due to a lack of information potential  (Gulf Engineers 1994).

· Site 31 CD 368 consists of a prehistoric, Woodland, and twentieth century component.  The site is considered ineligible for the NRHP due to a lack of integrity (Gulf Engineers 1994).

· Site 31 CD 369 is a low density modern artifact scatter.  The site is considered ineligible for inclusion on the NRHP due to a lack of integrity (Gulf Engineers 1994).

· Site 31 CD 370 is the remains of a modern military training site.  The site is considered ineligible for inclusion on the NRHP due to a lack of integrity (Gulf Engineers 1994). 
· Site 31 CD 389.   The site is a small prehistoric site.  The site considered ineligible for inclusion on the NRHP due to a lack of integrity (Hargrove 1995).

· Site 31 CD 390 contains Woodland and nineteenth century components.   The site is considered ineligible for inclusion on the NRHP due to a lack of integrity (Hargrove 1995) 

· Site 31CD797 contains 3 prehistoric sherds.  This site is considered ineligible for the NRHP due to a lack of information potential.

No further work was recommended for the ten sites.  Analysis of data recovered during survey work indicated that these sites are ineligible for nomination to the NRHP. 

tc "3.3.2  Historic Buildings and Structures "3.4.2  Historic Buildings and Structures

3.4.2.1  Pope Field Historic District   The Pope Field Historic District contains the largest concentration of pre-1945 constructed buildings and structures remaining at Pope AFB.  It encompasses the original 1933-34 main base area.  In addition to the district, Building 708 (hangars 3 and 4) is listed on the National Register (Fig. 3.39).  The district consists of 33 contributing buildings, and includes a variety of building types related to the base's early history (Table 3.12).  The contributing buildings add to the historic associations or architectural qualities for which a property is significant because they were present during the period of significance, relate to the significance of the property and possess historic integrity.  There is also one non-contributing building in the district.  Architectural styles found within the historic district primarily include Georgian Revival and standard federal adaptations of classical designs adapted to a specific south Atlantic seaboard environment and usage (see Section 3.2.2.3).  The architectural and historical integrity of the District, its setting, and its components, is excellent.

Significance of the Pope Field Historic District  The District is a nationally significant historic property, under NRHP Criterion A and C.  The barracks and administrative buildings associated with the first cantonment area at Pope Field were built between 1933 and 1934, and represent some of the oldest standing buildings at the installation.  These units were built during a period of initial economic recovery from the Great Depression, 
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Table 3.12:  Pope Field Historic District - Contributing and Non-Contributing Buildings                     and Structures

CONTRIBUTING

Officer Housing and Garages 

No.
Facility No.
Original Use
Current Use
Remarks
Year Built

1
202
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

2
204
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

3
206
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

4
208
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

5
210
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

6
212
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

7
214
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

8
216
Officer Housing
Senior Officer Quarters (SOQ)
Single Family 
1933

9
218
Officer Housing
General Officer Quarters (GOQ)
Single Family 
1933

10
203
Officer Garage
 SOQ Garage
2-bay 
1933

11
207
Officer Garage
SOQ Garage
2-bay
1933

12
211
Officer Garage
SOQ Garage
2-bay
1933

13
215
Officer Garage
SOQ Garage
2-bay
1933

14
217
Officer Garage
GOQ Garage
1-bay
1933








Noncommissioned Officer Housing and Garages

No.
Facility No.
Original Use
Current Use
Remarks
Year Built

15
322
NCO  Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family 
1934

16
324
NCO  Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family 
1934

17
326
NCO  Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family 
1934

18
328
NCO Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family
1934

19
330
NCO Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family 
1934

20
332
NCO Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family
1934

21
334
NCO Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family
1934

22
336
NCO Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family
1934

23
338
NCO Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family
1934

24
340
NCO Housing
Enlisted/Junior NCO Quarters 
Single Family
1934

25
342
NCO Housing
Services
Storage
1934

26
344
NCO Housing
Services

1034

27
325
NCO Garage
Enlisted/Junior NCO Garage
5-bay
1934

28
337
NCO Garage
Enlisted/Junior NCO Garage
5-bay
1934

29
343
Two-Car Garage
Services Storage
Masonry
1933








Administrative and Recreational Buildings and Structures

No.
Facility No.
Original Use
Current Use
Remarks
Year Built

30
708
Operations Hangar
Hangars  4 & 5
Double Hangar
1934

31
300
Fire House
Medical Supply

1934

32
302
Dispensary
Medical Group Administration

1934

33
306
Barracks
Support Group Headquarters
Fleming Hall
1933








NON-CONTRIBUTING BUILDINGS 

No.
Facility No.
Original Use
Current Use
Remarks
Year Built

34
308
Military Personnel
Military Personnel
Masonry Structure
1985

using allocations from the only pre-Roosevelt era Federal program designed to put the country’s population back to work.  Of a total of $300 million appropriated by Congress under the Emergency Relief and Construction Act of 1932, $140,000 was spent at Pope Field to construct Fleming Hall and the other two administrative buildings.  The 1933-34 cantonment at Pope AFB also represents construction undertaken during the first major expansion of the military facilities.  Pope Field has played a leading role in the development of American air power.

The Pope AFB administrative and barracks buildings display an early twentieth century application of Federal colonial construction designs and floor plans, adapted to a specific, south Atlantic seaboard environment and usage.  Fleming Hall (Bldg. 306) is typical of a basic palladian design that characterized public construction from the early to middle twentieth century.  Large palladian buildings designed for public use display formal symmetry, imposing entries, and balanced flanking elements.  Smaller buildings, such as the fire station (Bldg. 300) and the old medical dispensary (Bldg. 302) are characterized by utilitarian, individualized adaptations of these major design elements.  Federal buildings during this period were stylistically restricted to classical and pseudo-classical designs that were easy to recognize and adapt for a variety of public uses.  A broad range of architects found it easier to compose and detail buildings within this general idiom, and contracting for efficient use of space and materials were also made easier through repetitive use of basic designs and plans throughout various levels of federal government.   

Pope Field Historic District Property Types  The Pope AFB historic districts represents a variety of building types, each with its own distinctive features.  The following sections describe the district in two subcategories, dwellings and administrative/recreational buildings and structures.

a. DWELLINGS

Old Family Housing at Pope AFB consists of 21 one- and two-story dwellings on Etheridge, Maynard, and Virgin Streets.  These buildings were under construction in January 1933, and were completed in January 1934 at costs ranging from $5,616 to $11,172.  The two-story homes originally housed senior officers on Maynard Streets (Bldgs. 202, 204, 206, 208, 210, 212, 214, 216, 218), while the one-story bungalows housed NCOs on Etheridge and Virgin Streets (Bldgs. 322, 324, 326, 328, 330, 332, 334, 336, 338, 340, 342, 344).  Today the bungalows on Etheridge Street house NCOs and those on Maynard Street (Colonel’s Row) house commissioned officers.  Bldgs. 342 and 344, the only bungalows on Virgin Street, have been converted for use by the Services Squadron. 

All family housing units were characterized by hollow tile masonry set on concrete foundations, with wood floors, painted stucco exteriors, tile roofs, small rear stoops/porches, and basements.  Exterior dimensions of the two-story dwellings are 34.3 x 39.3 feet; exterior dimension of the one-story bungalows are 32.3 x 32.5 feet.  Each house has both an exterior and interior basement access.  

Originally furnished with steam boilers, the family housing units were equipped with oil floor furnaces, air conditioning, and fans before 1956, when ownership was transferred from the Army Air Corps to the Air Force.  Subsequent improvements between 1956 and 1980 were mostly non-structural in nature, except for the installation of central ventilation and removal of some interior walls to expand living space. 

Several vehicle garages were built in conjunction with the Old Family Housing units.  Engineering specifications detail these as hollow tile masonry units.  Engineering specifications detail these as hollow tile masonry structures with concrete foundations and floors, stucco exteriors, and gabled roofs shingled with tile.  Two-car garages (Bldgs. 203, 207, 211, 215, 217) are shared by commissioned officers’ families living in the two-story quarters on Maynard Street.  These buildings measure 21.0 x 21.7 feet.  Five-car garages (Bldgs. 325, 337) were constructed behind the non-commissioned officers’ quarters on Etheridge Street; these buildings measure 21.7 x 50.0 feet (Fig. 3.33).  A two-car garage (Bldg. 343) is also located behind Bldgs. 342 and 344 on Virgin Street.  Most of the garages still function today as vehicle or personal storage buildings.

Officer Housing  Buildings 202, 204, 206, 208, 210, 212, 214, 216, and 218 currently serve the function of senior and general officer’s quarters (Fig. 3.32).  The residence is a two-story masonry building resting on a concrete foundation.  Rectangular in plan view, the house is three bays wide under a main lateral gabled roof.  An in-wall chimney is present between the main block of each house and the setback sun porch extends to the side.  Roofs are gabled and windows are double-hung and evenly spaced on each facade. 

The roofs are gabled and clad in Spanish tile, however, the photographs indicate that the tile was flat-not the current barrel tile.  The exterior walls are stuccoed hollow tile.  A one-story porch has a shed roof and covers the full facade.  Three openings on the facade of the porch are segmental arched openings.  Two French doors flank the main entrance.  The building also features slight roof overhang and curved, exposed roof rafter ends under both the main roof and the porch roof.  The windows are double-hung and evenly spaced on each facade.  One exterior end chimney is located on the gable end of the right elevation.  

A metal hood shades a rear elevation entrance.  The nine residences were completed on September 22, 1933.

Noncommissioned Officer Housing   Buildings 322, 324, 326, 328, 330, 332, 334, 336, 338, and 340 are currently non-commissioned officers quarters, and buildings 342 and 344 are administrative offices.  Constructed in 1933 through 1934, all the residences follow one plan and building style (Fig. 3.31).  The building is a one-story, rectangular plan masonry bungalow sitting on a reinforced concrete foundation.  The front-facing gable of the cross gable roofs is perpendicular to the lateral gable, with the  main core under a lateral gable roof.   There is a slight roof overhang  and semicircular attic vents adorn all gables.  The exterior chimney is stuccoed.  A screened-in porch, approached by a short flight of stairs, characterizes the front facade of each house, while the rear entrance is recessed in an arched opening .  The front porches on these houses represent original construction features; screening was added in 1964.  A gabled roofed, shed/kitchen area covers half of the rear elevation.  The buildings were identified as NCO Quarters when constructed.

Automobile Garages   Buildings 325 and 337 are five-car garages, identical in construction and style (Fig. 3.33).  The garage is a one-story, stuccoed masonry building resting on a reinforced concrete foundation.  Constructed at the same time as the neighboring living quarters, the building has five door bays under a tiled, lateral gable roof.  

b.  ADMINISTRATIVE AND RECREATIONAL BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES   

Administrative Buildings  Administrative buildings within the Pope Field Historic District are those that were originally built, or are presently used, for administrative offices or for other support of the operation of the base.  There are 3 administrative buildings located within the District, including Fleming Hall (Bldg. 306), the Old Fire Station (Bldg. 300), and the Old Medical Dispensary (Bldg. 302) (Fig. 3.39, Table 3.12). 

Fleming Hall (Bldg. 306) is a three-story building with stone-and-hollow tile masonry, an attic, and a basement (Fig. 3.30).  It is Georgian Revival in style,  featuring a symmetrical façade, segmental arched dormers and quoins accenting the building’s corners.  Beltcourses, also characteristic of Georgian architecture, visually separate the three stories on all elevation.  

The building was constructed in 1933 at a cost of $92,420.  Its exterior dimensions are 53.8 x 129.9 feet.  The gabled roof, originally covered with what was described on the real property record as “slab shingle tile”, is now asphalt-shingled.  Color postcards indicate the roof was probably red in color.  Oculus windows occur in each gable.  A wood cornice adorns the roof line.  An exterior chimney is present on the northwest  (rear) wing of the building.  The structure  rests on a reinforced concrete foundation and has a stucco exterior.  The  rear (north) elevation describes a C-shaped courtyard and porch surrounded by a stone-walled enclosure.  Originally, the first-floor porch had arched openings that faced the courtyard; above the porch were second- and third-floor balconies that likewise faced the courtyard.  The rear entry forms a simple recessed foyer.  All exterior windows in Fleming Hall have stone sills.  The evenly-spaced window openings contain double-hung sash, 8-over-8 windows.  

The front entry is embellished with a small, one-story arched porch overhang supported by two squared stone piers embedded in bonded brick.  The simulated keystone arch is topped by a stone lintel and stone balustraded balcony, which is entered by a French door with a transom.  According to as-built plans for Fleming Hall, it appears that the front porch piers and pilasters are formed of cut stone, although it would be difficult to distinguish cut stone from well-cast simulated stone.  Cast stone (concrete) was more widely used in Federal buildings during the 1930’s, due to the fact that it was cheaper and easier to work competently than was cut stone (John Wells, personal communication 1985).  

Originally built as a barracks and mess for enlisted men, Fleming Hall was converted to Command Headquarters during World War II and now serves as the Support Group Headquarters.  The rear porch and balconies were enclosed to create more office space.  Other major architectural alterations to the building’s exterior include the replacement of roof tiles with asphalt shingles in 1957; subsequent roof repairs have occurred, most recently in 1983.  Improper installation of copper flashing around the concrete and stone chimney at the rear of the building in 1957 caused leakage, which was corrected in 1974.  The west elevation reflects modification to accommodate the addition of an exterior fire escape and ventilation upgrade.  Several first-story windows on the rear of the building were boarded up and sealed with a stucco exterior in 1961.  Installation of hinged front and rear glass doors and storm windows on all facades complete the exterior modifications.

A number of structural improvements have also been made to the interior of Fleming Hall in order to accommodate the changes in function from living quarters to administrative offices after 1957.  Repair and maintenance of mechanical, plumbing, wiring systems were conducted between 1955 and 1982.   Central air conditioning was added in 1959, but architectural modifications associated with the HVAC system do not appear to have been major until 1970.  The building’s original steam boiler was demolished at this time and a new oil furnace was installed.

The Old Fire Station (Bldg. 300) is a one-story building at the corner of Maynard and Reilly Streets completed in 1934 at a cost of $6,690 (Fig. 3.28).  Exterior dimensions of this gable-roofed structure are 20.5 x 53.7 feet.  According to as-built plans, it had a concrete and smooth-faced tile floor, hollow tile masonry walls, tile roof, painted stucco facade, stone window sills, and multi-pane casement windows.  Circular, louvered vent openings occur in the gable ends of the roof.  The original floor plan was designed to house two fire trucks, an apparatus room, office, closet, toilet, and heater/boiler room at the rear.  The fire trucks entered the station through two overhung, garage-type bays.  The original garage doors each had 4 small single-pane windows.

The major modification to the plan and exterior of Bldg. 300 was the addition of an asbestos-sided wallboard (frame) pent roof building on the north (rear) side of the building ca. 1956.  This addition housed sleeping quarters and a lounge, toilet, and showers.  Space in the original building was converted to a kitchen and an additional office.  The heating system was also converted from steam boiler to oil at this time.  Asphalt shingles replaced the roof tiles in 1958.  

Major changes to the interior floor plan of Bldg. 300 were installed ca. 1979, when the fire station was converted to its present use as a medical supply and maintenance building.  These changes do not appear to have affected the exterior facade, however.  Under the use conversion, a medical warehouse was located in the former apparatus room, and a suspended ceiling was built in the warehouse area.  Technical services were located in the old office and kitchen, and storage and mechanical space replaced the old boiler room.  In addition, medical supply issue was located in the old sleeping quarters; administration was moved to the old lounge.  A new vault, mechanical room and security cages were built at the back of the warehouse, and new ventilation and fire protection systems were installed.  Storm windows were added to the building in 1978.

The Old Medical Dispensary (Bldg. 302) is located between Bldgs. 300 and 306 on Maynard Street (Fig. 3.29).  It was originally built as a medical dispensary and flight surgeon’s clinic in 1934 for $21,000.  This one-story structure with basement has hollow tile masonry walls erected on a concrete foundation, asphalt shingle (originally a flat tile) roof, evenly spaced window openings containing double-hung sash 6 over 6 windows, and painted stucco exterior.  Exterior dimensions are 60.5 x 32.8 feet.  Bldg. 302 has a truncated hipped roof with a central chimney and dormers on front and rear faces.  The front entrance, approached by a flight of stairs and topped by a transom, is outlined by an ornamental surround.

No as-built plans could be located to detail the original interior arrangement of space.  The earliest structural modifications to Bldg. 302 appear to have occurred during the early 1950’s, when plumbing and interior layout changes were made to accommodate expanded medical needs.  Flush panel doors of hinged glass were installed.  Pursuant to a change in use in 1971, alterations associated with medical equipment supply were made to the dispensary.  Another change in use appears to have occurred in repairs since 1982 involving electrical, mechanical, plumbing, fire protection, and telephone systems.  Those involving architectural details have been mostly concerned with the addition of storm windows and replacement of hinged glass doors. 

Service/Industrial Buildings and Structures   Hangars 4 and 5 (Bldg. 708), is the location for base operations, storage and the passenger aircraft terminal (Fig. 3.24).  Constructed in 1934, the building features a bow roof, supported by a bowstring truss system.  The entire roof is covered with metal and asphalt, and the walls are stuccoed tile. There are four three-story towers defining the corners of each hangar building.  Beyond these towers the roof flattens, one bay wide the full width of the side elevation.  Towers have two elongated rectangular windows within a slender segmental arched well.  The two hangars are attached via a flat roof section in the center. 

Plans for the Double Hangar date to August 1933, with a few auxiliary plans dated to October of the same year.  They include the electrical layout, door details, ceiling and roof details, foundation plans, section details, and floor plans.  As originally constructed, the Double Hangar was a double-bay metal superstructure with exterior dimensions of 333.5 feet by 124 feet.  The south exposure faced onto a taxiway apron that accessed the landing strip (Drucker and Jackson 1987b; Pope Field 1934-1942).

The use of hollow tile, especially bake-molded red clay, was common in the southeastern United States in the years before 1950, since hollow tile was able to adjust to high humidity and allowed walls to expand and contract.  Of significance for the Double Hangar is the truss construction, which creates open space and vertical clearance with a minimum of superstructure.  Bowstring truss construction, a technique in common use between 1930 and 1950, was employed.  In the years that followed, other truss techniques would become more common:  the compression strut truss (1950-1955) and the bar joist truss (late 1950s and early 1960s).  The Double Hangar is the only existing example of bowstring truss construction on the base (Drucker and Jackson 1987b:8.1).

Setting of the Pope Historic District  The houses within the Officer and Noncommissioned Officer residential areas are  removed from the business and industrial sections of the base and away from areas of high traffic and visibility.  The two areas are intersected by quiet, narrow, tree-lined streets and are surrounded by manicured lawns and deep setbacks.  Back yards are broad, grass-covered, and unfenced.  Overall, the feeling within the two housing areas is similar to that which might be expected in a small neighborhood or private residential community.  

tc "3.4 Areas of Concern "3.5 AREAS OF CONCERN  

3.5.1  Archeology  Pope AFB has completed its identification requirements under Section 110 of NHPA for archeological sites on properties under its jurisdiction.  Should archeological material be found on the base unexpectedly, base personnel will follow the procedures outlined in Section 4.2 for proper collection and curation.

Pope AFB may extend the runway.  Should the runway expansion project require acquisition of new property, the base will need to consult with the SHPO concerning the necessity of cultural resources surveys of the new tracts of land.

 TC " 3.5.2  Cold War Properties "3.5.2  Cold War Properties  An inventory and evaluation of Cold War properties at Pope AFB (HQ ACC 1995) was accomplished with the conclusion that Building 306, Fleming Hall, is eligible for the National Register of Historic Places for its significance

in the Cold War context.  Fleming Hall is listed on the National Register  for  its significance within the pre World War II context, but eligibility   under the Cold War context may nevertheless be important to future Section 106 consultations.  Pope will coordinate the results of the inventory as part of the process of executing a programmatic agreement for future management of base resources.  Until this is accomplished, Pope will review projects for potential to affect eligible Cold War resources, and notify the SHPO of the results of this review for Cold War resources over 50 years old.  Per Air Force guidance, Pope will consider Cold War eligibility recommendations under this context as tentative, pending future Department of Defense and Air Force guidance, and future availability of additional contextual and comparative information.  Pope AFB will review any new information on an as needed basis, to determine if it provides a reason to revisit or revise the report's eligibility recommendation for the one identified historic property. 

3.6   mapping   A map detailing the location of the historic district has been developed for the base (Fig. 3.39).  Figure 3.39 is at a scale of 1 inch =1,800 feet.  The CRM holds copies of archeological survey reports showing the location of archeological sites.  The Archeological data (sites and surveys) have been included in ArcView coverages given to Pope AFB.  This information has not been added to a Geographic Information System (GIS) detailing the Pope AFB General Plan.  Pope AFB will add the archeological sensitivity information, the historic district, and historic properties information to its the GIS system when one is obtained.  Once the archeological areas of concern are added to a GIS system, the CRM will be able to cite proposed projects on a 1 inch=400 feet scale map.  Pope AFB will keep archeological site information confidential and release it only on a need-to-know basis.
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